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This supplement is to be read and construed in conjunction with the base prospectuses dated 14 June 2010,
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a "Prospectus” and together the "Prospectuses”) each as supplemented from time to time, and in connection
with any issue of Instruments, with the relevant Final Terms and/or Terms and Conditions. Therefore, with
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UniCredit Bank AG accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Supplement and declares
that, having taken all reasonable care to ensure that this is the case, the information contained in this
Supplement is, to the best of its knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to
affect its import.

Investors who have already agreed to purchase or subscribe for the Instruments before the supplement is
published shall have the right, exercisable within two working days after the publication of the
Supplement, to withdraw their acceptances, pursuant to section 16 paragraph 3 of the German Securities
Prospectus Act.

UniCredit Bank AG, LCI4DC Debt Capital Markets Documentation, Arabellastrale 12, 81925 Munich,
Germany, fax no.: +49-89-378 33 15964, has been appointed as recipient for the revocation notices
according to Section 16 Paragraph 3 in connection with section 8 paragraph 1 sentence 4 of the German
Securities Prospectus Act.

This Supplement and the Prospectuses are available during usual business hours on any weekday (except
Saturdays and public holidays) at the office of UniCredit Bank AG, LCI4DC Debt Capital Markets
Documentation, Arabellastrafie 12, 81925 Munich, Germany.
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UniCredit Bank AG announces the following changes with regard to the Prospectuses:

1. CHANGES TO THE PROSPECTUS FOR THE EURO 50,000,000,000 DEBT
ISSUANCE PROGRAMME FOR THE ISSUANCE OF CREDIT LINKED
NOTES AND CREDIT LINKED CERTIFICATES DATED 14 JUNE 2010

1.1 In the section "Summary of the Prospectus — 4. SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER",
immediately prior to the paragraph "Recent Developments", the following paragraph is inserted:

Financial Highlights
As of 31 December 2010

Key performance 2010 2009

indicators
Operating profit €3,125m €3,468 m
Cost-income ratio

(based on total

revenues) 52.3% 50,0%
Profit before tax €1,882m €1,266 m
Consolidated profit €1,728 m €884 m
Return on equity before tax" 8.5% 5.5%
Return on equity after tax* 8.0% 3.7%
Earnings per share €2.12 €1.02
Balance sheet figures 31/12/2010 31/12/2009
Total Assets €371.9 bn €363.4 bn
Shareholders' equity €23.7 bn €23.6 bn
Leverage ratio 15.7 15.4
Key capital ratios
compliant with Basel 11 31/12/2010 31/12/2009
Core Capital (Tier 1 capital) €20.6 bn €20.4 bn
Core capital without hybrid
capital (core Tier 1 capital) €19.8 bn €19.3 bn
Risk-weighted assets
(including equivalents for
market risk and operational
risk) €124.5bn €115.1 bn
Core capital ratio (Tier 1
ratio)* 16.6% 17.8%




Core capital ratio without
hybrid capital (core Tier 1
ratio)? 15.9% 16.7%

1: return on equity calculated on the basis of average shareholders' equity according to IFRS
2: ratio of total assets to shareholders' equity compliant with IFRS

3: calculated on the basis of risk-wheighted assets, including equivalents for market risk and operational

risk

1.2 In the section "German Translation of Summary of the Prospectus — 4. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG
DER BESCHREIBUNG DER EMITTENTIN", immediately prior to the paragraph "Jingste
Entwicklungen", the following paragraph is inserted:

Financial Highlights
zum 31. Dezember 2010

Kennzahlen der 2010 2009

Erfolgsrechnung
Operatives Ergebnis 3.125 Mio € 3.468 Mio €
Cost-Income-Ratio

(gemessen an den

operativen Ertrégen) 52,3% 50,0%
Ergebnis vor Steuern 1.882 Mio € 1.266 Mio €
Konzernjahresiiberschuss 1.728 Mio € 884 Mio €
Eigenkapitalrentabilitat vor

Steuern* 8,5% 5,5%
Eigenkapitalrentabilitat

nach Steuern’ 8,0% 3,7%
Ergebnis je Aktie 2,12 € 1,02 €
Bilanzzahlen 31.12.2010 31.12.2009
Bilanzsumme 371,9 Mrd € 363,4 Mrd €
Bilanzielles Eigenkapital 23,7 Mrd € 23,6 Mrd €
Leverage Ratio 15,7 15,4




Bankaufsichtsrechtliche

Kennzahlen gemals Basel

| 31.12.2010 31.12.2009
Kernkapital (Tier 1-Kapital) 20,6 Mrd € 20,4 Mrd €
Kernkapital ohne

Hybridkapital (Core Tier 1-

Kapital) 19,8 Mrd € 19,3 Mrd €
Risikoaktiva (inklusive

Aquivalente  fiur  das

Marktrisiko bzw.

operationelle Risiko) 124,5 Mrd € 115,1 Mrd €
Kernkapitalquote (Tier 1

Ratio)® 16,6% 17,8%
Kernkapitalquote ohne

Hybridkapital (Core Tier 1

Ratio)® 15,9% 16,7%

1.3

2.1

2.2

2.3

1: Eigenkapitalrentabilitét berechnet auf Basis des durchschnittlichen bilanziellen Eigenkapitals gemaf
IFRS.

2:  Verhdltnis  von  Bilanzsumme  zu  bilanziellem  Eigenkapital —gemaB  IFRS.

3: Berechnet auf der Basis von Risikoaktiva inklusive Aquivalente fir das Marktrisiko und fiir das

operationelle Risiko.

Immediately after the section "Documents incorporated by reference”, after page 492, the audited
Financial Statements at 31 December 2010 as laid out in Appendix 1 of this Supplement are inserted as
F-Pages in their entirety.

CHANGES TO THE PROSPECTUS FOR THE EURO 50,000,000,000 DEBT
ISSUANCE PROGRAMME FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOTES,
CERTIFICATES AND WARRANTS DATED 20 MAY 2010

In the section "Summary of the Prospectus — 4. SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER",
immediately prior to the paragraph "Recent Developments", the paragraph as stated under item 1.1 of
this Supplement is inserted.

In the section "German Translation of Summary of the Prospectus — 4. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG
DER BESCHREIBUNG DER EMITTENTIN", immediately prior to the paragraph "Jingste
Entwicklungen”, the paragraph as stated under item 1.2 of this Supplement is inserted.

Immediately after the section "Documents incorporated by reference", after page 398 the audited
Financial Statements at 31 December 2010 as laid out in Appendix 1 of this Supplement are inserted as
F-Pages in their entirety.



3.1

3.2

3.3

4.1

4.2

4.3

5.1

5.2

5.3

CHANGES TO THE PROSPECTUS FOR THE EURO 50,000,000,000 DEBT
ISSUANCE PROGRAMME FOR THE ISSUANCE OF PFANDBRIEFE
DATED 20 MAY 2010

In the section "Summary of the Prospectus — 4. SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER",
immediately prior to the paragraph "Recent Developments”, the paragraph as stated under item 1.1 of
this Supplement is inserted.

In the section "German Translation of Summary of the Prospectus — 4. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG
DER BESCHREIBUNG DER EMITTENTIN", immediately prior to the paragraph "Jingste
Entwicklungen", the paragraph as stated under item 1.2 of this Supplement is inserted.

Immediately after the section "Documents incorporated by reference”, after page 151, the audited
Financial Statements at 31 December 2010 as laid out in Appendix 1 of this Supplement are inserted as
F-Pages in their entirety.

CHANGES TO THE PROSPECTUS FOR THE EURO 50,000,000,000 DEBT
ISSUANCE PROGRAMME FOR THE ISSUANCE OF GLOBAL- AND
JUMBO-PFANDBRIEFE DATED 20 MAY 2010

In the section "Summary of the Prospectus — 4. SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER",
immediately prior to the paragraph "Recent Developments”, the paragraph as stated under item 1.1 of
this Supplement is inserted.

In the section "German Translation of Summary of the Prospectus — 4. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG
DER BESCHREIBUNG DER EMITTENTIN", immediately prior to the paragraph "Jingste
Entwicklungen”, the paragraph as stated under item 1.2 of this Supplement is inserted.

Immediately after the section "Documents incorporated by reference”, after page 58, the audited
Financial Statements at 31 December 2010 as laid out in Appendix 1 of this Supplement are inserted as
F-Pages in their entirety.

CHANGES TO THE PROSPECTUS FOR THE EURO 50,000,000,000 DEBT
ISSUANCE PROGRAMME FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOTES (INCLUDING
CREDIT LINKED NOTES), CERTIFICATES AND WARRANTS DATED
20 MAY 2009

In the section "Summary of the Prospectus — 4. SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER",
immediately prior to the paragraph "Recent Developments", the paragraph as stated under item 1.1 of
this Supplement is inserted.

In the section "German Translation of Summary of the Prospectus — 4. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG
DER BESCHREIBUNG DER EMITTENTIN", immediately prior to the paragraph "Jingste
Entwicklungen", the paragraph as stated under item 1.2 of this Supplement is inserted.

Immediately after the section "Documents incorporated by reference”, after page 419, the audited
Financial Statements at 31 December 2010 as laid out in Appendix 1 of this Supplement are inserted as
F-Pages in their entirety.



6.1

6.2

6.3

7.1

7.2

7.3

8.1

8.2

8.3

CHANGES TO THE PROSPECTUS FOR THE EURO 50,000,000,000 DEBT
ISSUANCE PROGRAMME FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOTES (INCLUDING
PFANDBRIEFE AND CREDIT LINKED INSTRUMENTS), CERTIFICATES
AND WARRANTS DATED 4 MARCH 2009

In the section "Summary of the Prospectus — 4. SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER",
immediately prior to the paragraph "Recent Developments”, the paragraph as stated under item 1.1 of
this Supplement is inserted.

In the section "German Translation of Summary of the Prospectus — 4. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG
DER BESCHREIBUNG DER EMITTENTIN", immediately prior to the paragraph "Jingste
Entwicklungen®, the paragraph as stated under item 1.2 of this Supplement is inserted.

Immediately after the section "Documents incorporated by reference”, after page 604, the audited
Financial Statements at 31 December 2010 as laid out in Appendix 1 of this Supplement are inserted as
F-Pages in their entirety.

CHANGES TO THE PROSPECTUS FOR THE EURO 50,000,000,000 DEBT
ISSUANCE PROGRAMME FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOTES (INCLUDING
PFANDBRIEFE AND CREDIT LINKED INSTRUMENTS), CERTIFICATES
AND WARRANTS DATED 11 MARCH 2008

In the section "Summary of the Prospectus — 4. SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER",
immediately prior to the paragraph "Recent Developments”, the paragraph as stated under item 1.1 of
this Supplement is inserted.

In the section "German Translation of Summary of the Prospectus — 4. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG
DER BESCHREIBUNG DER EMITTENTIN", immediately prior to the paragraph "Jlngste
Entwicklungen”, the paragraph as stated under item 1.2 of this Supplement is inserted.

Immediately after the section "Documents incorporated by reference”, after page 587, the audited
Financial Statements at 31 December 2010 as laid out in Appendix 1 of this Supplement are inserted as
F-Pages in their entirety.

CHANGES TO THE PROSPECTUS FOR THE EURO 50,000,000,000 DEBT
ISSUANCE PROGRAMME FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOTES (INCLUDING
PFANDBRIEFE), CERTIFICATES AND WARRANTS DATED 25 JUNE 2007

In the section "Summary of the Prospectus — 4. SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER",
immediately prior to the paragraph "Recent Developments”, the paragraph as stated under item 1.1 of
this Supplement is inserted.

In the section "German Translation of Summary of the Prospectus — 4. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG
DER BESCHREIBUNG DER EMITTENTIN", immediately prior to the paragraph "Jingste
Entwicklungen®, the paragraph as stated under item 1.2 of this Supplement is inserted.

Immediately after the section "Documents incorporated by reference”, after page 363, the audited
Financial Statements at 31 December 2010 as laid out in Appendix 1 of this Supplement are inserted as
F-Pages in their entirety.



9.1

9.2

9.3

CHANGES TO THE PROSPECTUS FOR THE EURO 50,000,000,000 DEBT
ISSUANCE PROGRAMME FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOTES (INCLUDING
PFANDBRIEFE), CERTIFICATES AND WARRANTS DATED 27 JUNE 2006

In the section "Summary of the Prospectus — 4. SUMMARY DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER",
immediately prior to the paragraph "Recent Developments”, the paragraph as stated under item 1.1 of
this Supplement is inserted.

In the section "German Translation of Summary of the Prospectus — 4. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG
DER BESCHREIBUNG DER EMITTENTIN", immediately prior to the paragraph "Jingste
Entwicklungen", the paragraph as stated under item 1.2 of this Supplement is inserted.

Immediately after the section "Documents incorporated by reference”, after page 263, the audited
Financial Statements at 31 December 2010 as laid out in Appendix 1 of this Supplement are inserted as
F-Pages in their entirety.
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Consolidated Income Statement

for the year ended 31 December 2010

2010 2009 CHANGE
Income/Expenses NOTES € millions € millions € millions in %
Interest income 8,700 11,059 (2,359) (21.3)
Interest expense (4,600) (6,583) + 1,983 (30.1)
Net interest 4,100 4,476 (376) (8.4)
Dividends and other income from equity investments 148 52 + 96 >+ 100.0
Net interest income 32 4,248 4,528 (280) 6.2)
Net fees and commissions 33 1,312 1,187 + 126+ 105
Net trading income 34 759 1,074 (315) (29.3)
Net other expenses/income 35 239 141 + 98 + 695
Net non-interest income 2,310 2,402 92) (3.8)
TOTAL REVENUES 6,558 6,930 (372) (5.4)
Payroll costs (1,756) (1,822) + 66 (3.6)
Other administrative expenses (1,459) (1,418) @41+ 29
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment
losses on intangible and tangible assets (218) (222) + 4 (1.8)
Operating costs 36 (3,433) (3,462) 29 (0.8)
OPERATING PROFIT 3,125 3,468 (343) 9.9
Provisions for risks and charges 37 (442) (151) (291) >+ 100.0
Write-down on goodwill — — — —
Restructuring costs 38 (37) (170) + 133 (78.2)
Net write-downs of loans and provisions
for guarantees and commitments 39 (632) (1,601) + 969 (60.5)
Net income from investments 40 (132 (280) + 148 + 529
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 1,882 1,266 + 616 + 487
Income tax for the period 41 (154) (382 + 228 (59.7)
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT 1,728 884 + 844 + 955
attributable to shareholder of UniCredit Bank AG 1,703 819 + 884 >+ 100.0
attributable to minorities 25 65 (40) (61.5)
Earnings per share (in €)
Notes 2010 2009
Earnings per share (undiluted and diluted) 42 212 1.02

F-1




Statement of Total Comprehensive Income (€ millions)
2010 2009
Consolidated profit recognised in the income statement 1,728 884
Income and expenses recognised in other comprehensive income
Changes from foreign currency translation and other changes 45 (36)
Changes from companies accounted for using the equity method — —
Actuarial profit on defined benefit plans (pension commitments) 50 (121)
Assets held for sale — —
Change in valuation of financial instruments (AfS reserve) 51 106
Change in valuation of financial instruments (hedge reserve) (111) (196)
Taxes on income and expenses recognised in equity 54 96
Total income and expenses recognised in equity under other comprehensive income 89 (151)
Total comprehensive income 1,817 733
of which
attributable to shareholder of UniCredit Bank AG 1,739 697
attributable to minority interest 78 36
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Balance Sheet

at 31 December 2010

Assets
2010 2009 CHANGE
NOTES € millions € millions € millions in%
Cash and cash balances 43 3,065 6,400 (3,335) (52.1)
Financial assets held for trading 44 133,389 133,389 — —
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 45 26,631 13,758 + 12,873 + 93.6
Available-for-sale financial assets 46 5,915 4,441 + 1,474 + 332
Shares in associates accounted for using the equity method
and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method 47 94 88 + 6 + 6.8
Held-to-maturity investments 48 2,600 2,679 (79) 2.9
Loans and receivables with banks 49 46,332 43,254 + 3,078 + 741
Loans and receivables with customers 50 139,351 145,919 (6,568) 4.5)
Hedging derivatives 52 4,205 3,578 + 627 + 175
Hedge adjustment of hedged items
in the fair value hedge portfolio 100 53 47 88.7
Property, plant and equipment 53 3,053 2,581 472 18.3
Investment properties 54 1,879 1,907 (28) (1.5)
Intangible assets 55 608 656 (48) (7.3)
of which: goodwill 424 424 — —
Tax assets 56 3,257 2,612 + 645 24.7
Current tax assets 406 360 + 46 12.8
Deferred tax assets 2,851 2,252 + 599 26.6
Non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale 57 28 4 + 24 >+ 100.0
Other assets 58 1,402 2,101 (699) (33.3)
Total assets 371,909 363,420 + 8,489 +2.3
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Liabilities

NOTES 2010 2009 CHANGE
€ millions € millions € millions in%
Deposits from banks 60 51,887 50,704 + 1,183 + 2.3
Deposits from customers 61 108,494 96,490 + 12,004 + 124
Debt securities in issue 62 48,676 61,286 (12,610) (20.6)
Financial liabilities held for trading 63 127,096 121,206 + 53890 + 49
Hedging derivatives 64 2,091 1,369 722 + 527
Hedge adjustment of hedged items
in the fair value hedge portfolio 65 1,471 1,200 + 271 + 226
Tax liabilities 66 2,203 1,849 + 354 + 1941
Current tax liabilities 840 674 + 166 + 246
Deferred tax liabilities 1,363 1,175 + 188 + 16.0
Liabilities of disposal groups held for sale 67 598 — + 598
Other liabilities 68 3,822 4179 (357) (8.5
Provisions 69 1,901 1,499 402 + 268
Shareholders’ equity 70 23,670 23,638 + 32 0.1
Shareholders’ equity attributable to
shareholder of UniCredit Bank AG 22,866 22,870 @ 0.0
Subscribed capital 2,407 2,407 — —
Additional paid-in capital 9,791 9,791 — —
Other reserves 9,485 9,034 + 451 + 5.0
Change in valuation of financial instruments (87) 5 92
AfS reserve (141) (190) + 49 + 258
Hedge reserve 54 195 (141) (72.3)
Consolidated profit 1,270 1,633 (363) (22.2)
Minority interest 804 768 36 + 4.7
Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 371,909 363,420 + 8,489 + 2.3

The profit available for distribution disclosed in the separate financial statements of UniCredit Bank AG (= consolidated profit of HVB Group), which forms
the basis for the appropriation of profit, amounts to €1,270 million. We will propose to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders that a dividend of

€1,270 million be paid to our sole shareholder, UniCredit S.p.A. (UniCredit), Rome, Italy. This represents a dividend of around €1.58 per share.
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Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

OTHER RESERVES
OF WHICH:
SUBSCRIBED ADDITIONAL ~ TOTAL OTHER PENSIONS AND
CAPITAL  PAID-IN CAPITAL RESERVES SIMILAR (IAS 19)
Shareholders’ equity at 1/1/2009 2,407 9,791 9,996 (139)
Recognised income and expenses
Consolidated profit recognised in the consolidated income statement —_ — — —_
Income and expenses recognised in equity
Change in valuation of financial instruments not affecting income — — — —
Change in valuation of financial instruments affecting income — — — —
Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans — — (84) (84)
Reserve arising from foreign currency translation and other changes — — (14) —
Total income and expenses recognised
in equity under other comprehensive income — — (98) (84)
Total income and expenses recognised — — (98) (84)
Other changes recognised in equity
Dividend payouts — — — —
Transfers from consolidated profit — — (814) —
Changes in group of consolidated companies — — (50) —
Total other changes in equity — — (864) —
Shareholders’ equity at 31/12/2009 2,407 9,791 9,034 (223)
Shareholders’ equity at 1/1/2010 2,407 9,791 9,034 (223)
Recognised income and expenses
Consolidated profit recognised in the consolidated income statement — — — —
Income and expenses recognised in equity
Change in valuation of financial instruments not affecting income — — — —
Change in valuation of financial instruments affecting income — — — —
Actuarial losses on defined benefit plans — — 34 34
Reserve arising from foreign currency translation and other changes — — 23 —
Total income and expenses recognised
in equity under other comprehensive income — — 57 34
Total income and expenses recognised — — 57 34
Other changes recognised in equity
Dividend payouts — — — —
Transfers to consolidated profit — — 433 —
Changes in group of consolidated companies — — (39) —
Total other changes in equity — — 394 —
Shareholders’ equity at 31/12/2010 2,407 9,791 9,485 (189)

1 UniCredit Bank AG (HVB)

2 the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders of 21 May 2010 resolved to distribute the 2009 consolidated profit in the amount of €1,633 million as a dividend to our sole shareholder,

UniCredit S.p.A. (UniCredit), Rome, Italy. This represents a dividend of around €2.03 per share of common stock and per share of preferred stock, an advanced dividend of €0.064 per share
of preferred stock and a retroactive payment on the advance share of profits of €0.064 per share of preferred stock for 2008
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(€ millions)

CHANGE IN VALUATION
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ TOTAL

CONSOLIDATED  EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS’

AFS RESERVE HEDGE RESERVE PROFI?  SHAREHOLDER OF HVB' INTEREST EQUITY
(306) 329 — 22,217 807 23,024
— — 819 819 65 884
175 4 — 171 @ 169
(70) (130) — (200) — (200)
— — — (84) — (84)

5 — _ ) 27) (36)
110 (134) — (122) (29) (151)
110 (134) 819 697 36 733
— — — — (54) (54)
— — 814 — — —

6 — — (44) @1) (65)

6 — 814 (44) (75) (119)
(190) 195 1,633 22,870 768 23,638
(190) 195 1,633 22,870 768 23,638
— — 1,703 1,703 25 1,728
86 11 — 97 1 98
(31) 92) — (123) — (123)
— — — 34 — 34

7 @) — 28 52 80

62 (83) — 36 53 89
62 (83) 1,703 1,739 78 1,817
— — (1,633) (1,633) (44) (1,677)
— — (433) — — —
(13) (58) — (110) 2 (108)
(13) (58) (2,066) (1,743) 42) (1,785)
(141) 54 1,270 22,866 804 23,670




Cash Flow Statement

(€ millions)

2010 2009
Consolidated profit 1,728 884
Write-downs, provisions for losses on, and write-ups of,
loans and receivables and additions to provisions for losses on guarantees and indemnities 692 1,678
Write-downs and depreciation less write-ups on long-term assets 586 620
Change in other non-cash positions (1,219 3,119
Profit from the sale of investments, property, plant and equipment (41) (194)
Other adjustments (net interest and dividend income from the income statement, taxes on income paid) (4,434) (4,781)
Subtotal (2,688) 1,326
Change in assets and liabilities from operating activities after correction for non-cash components
Increase in assets/decrease in liabilities (-)
Decrease in assets/increase in liabilities (+)
Financial assets held for trading 14,668 27,423
Loans and receivables with banks 6,976 (2,880)
Loans and receivables with customers 5,425 27,288
Other assets from operating activities 741 12
Deposits from banks (4,259) (33,110
Deposits from customers 11,852 (15,955)
Debt securities in issue (11,151) 611
Other liabilities from operating activities (18,674) (8,506)
Taxes on income paid (276) (109)
Interest received 9,682 11,791
Interest paid (4,834) (7,924)
Dividends received 615 415
Cash flows from operating activities 8,077 382
Proceeds from the sale of investments 1,993 5,475
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment 167 60
Payments for the acquisition of investments (3,320) (1,025)
Payments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment (854) (969)
Effects of the change in the group of companies included in consolidation (5,942) 107
Cash flows from investing activities (7,956) 3,648
Change in additional paid-in capital — —
Dividend payments (1,633) —
Other financing activities, net (subordinated and hybrid capital) (1,768) (2,864)
Other financing activities, net (55) (322
Cash flows from financing activities (3,456) (3,186)
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(€ millions)

2010 2009
Cash and cash equivalents at end of previous period 6,400 5,556
Net cash provided/used by operating activities 8,077 382
Net cash provided/used by investing activities (7,956) 3,648
Net cash provided/used by financing activities (3,456) (3,186)
Effects of exchange rate changes — —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 3,065 6,400
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS

UniCredit Bank AG (HVB), with its registered office and principal place of business in Munich, Germany, is an affiliated company of UniCredit
S.p.A., Rome, Italy (ultimate parent company).

As a globally active company, HVB prepares its financial statements in accordance with the requirements of the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). This provides a reliable and internationally comparable basis for evaluating the HVB Group and its profitability. Our
value-based management is similarly based on these accounting principles.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) pursuant
to EU Commission Regulation 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 2002 together with further regulations
regarding the adoption of certain IFRS within the framework of the EU endorsement in conjunction with Section 315a (1) of the German Com-
mercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch — HGB) as non-exempt consolidated financial statements compliant with Section 4 of the IAS-VO Regulation.
The present consolidated financial statements were prepared by the Management Board on 11 March 2011. Besides the standards defined as
IFRS, the IFRS also comprise the existing International Accounting Standards (IAS) together with the interpretations of the International Financial
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the former Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC), respectively. All the standards and inter-
pretations subject to obligatory application in the EU for the 2010 financial year have been applied. Section 315a, HGB, also contains national
regulations to be applied alongside the IFRS by capital-market-oriented companies.

The voluntary statement of compliance regarding the Corporate Governance Code required by Section 161, German Stock Corporation Act
(Aktiengesetz — AktG), has been published on our website at www.hvb.com/declarationofconformity. Our listed subsidiaries DAB Bank AG and
AGROB Immobilien AG have posted the equivalent mandatory statements of compliance on their websites.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis meets the requirements of Section 315 (1, 2), HGB. Also incorporated is a risk report pursuant to
Section 315, HGB.
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Compliant with Section 264b, HGB, the following companies are exempted from the obligation to prepare a management report and publish

their annual financial statements:

— HVZ GmbH & Co. Objekt KG, Munich

— Salvatorplatz-Grundstlicksgesellschaft mbH & Co. oHG Verwaltungszentrum, Munich

— Salvatorplatz-Grundsticksgesellschaft mbH & Co. oHG Saarland, Munich

— Hypo-Bank Verwaltungszentrum GmbH & Co. KG Objekt ArabellastraBe, Munich

— Portia Grundstiicks-Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. Objekt KG, Munich

— A&T-Projektentwicklungs GmbH & Co. Potsdamer Platz Berlin KG, Munich

— Acis Immobilien- und Projektentwicklungs GmbH & Co. Stuttgart KronprinzstraBe KG, Munich

— Acis Immobilien- und Projektentwicklungs GmbH & Co. Oberbaum City KG, Munich

— Acis Immobilien- und Projektentwicklungs GmbH & Co. Parkkolonnaden KG, Munich—  Delpha Immobilien- und Projektentwicklungs GmbH & Co.
GroBkugel Bauabschnitt Alpha Management KG, Munich

— Delpha Immobilien- und Projektentwicklungs GmbH & Co. GroBkugel Bauabschnitt Beta Management KG, Munich

— Delpha Immobilien- und Projektentwicklungs GmbH & Co. GroBkugel Bauabschnitt Gamma Management KG, Munich

— Grundstlicksgesellschaft Simon beschrénkt haftende Kommanditgesellschaft, Munich

— HVB Gesellschaft fiir Gebdude mbH & Co. KG, Munich

— TRICASA Grundbesitz Gesellschaft mbH & Co. 1. Vermietungs KG, Munich
(formerly HYPO-REAL Haus- und Grundbesitz Gesellschaft mbH & Co. 1. Vermietungs KG)

— Othmarschen Park Hamburg GmbH & Co. Centerpark KG, Munich

— Othmarschen Park Hamburg GmbH & Co. Gewerbepark KG, Munich

— SOLARIS Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. Vermietungs KG, Munich

— Solos Immobilien- und Projektentwicklungs GmbH & Co. Sirius Beteiligungs KG, Munich

— TERRENO Grundstiicksverwaltung GmbH & Co. Entwicklungs- und Finanzierungsvermittiungs KG, Munich.

Compliant with Section 264 (3), HGB, the following companies are exempted from the obligation to prepare a management report and publish
their annual financial statements:

— Argentaurus Immobilien Vermietungs- und Verwaltungs GmbH, Munich
— HVB Immobilien AG, Munich

— HVB Projekt GmbH, Munich

— HVB Tecta GmbH, Munich

— Interra Gesellschaft fir Immobilienverwaltung mbH, Munich

— Orestos Immobilien-Verwaltungs GmbH, Munich

— BV Grundstiicksentwicklungs-GmbH, Munich

— NF Objekte Berlin GmbH, Munich

— NF Objekt FFM GmbH, Munich

— NF Objekt Miinchen GmbH, Munich

— RHOTERRA Gesellschaft fiir Immobilienverwaltung mbH, Munich

— UniCredit Direct Services GmbH, Munich

— Verwaltungsgesellschaft Katharinenhof m.b.H., Hamburg.
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Accounting and Valuation

1 Uniform Group accounting policies
The separate financial statements of the domestic and foreign subsidiaries are incorporated in our consolidated financial statements in accordance with
uniform principles of accounting and valuation. Where options have been exercised, the details are explained under the balance sheet items concerned.

2 Consistency

In accordance with the IFRS Framework together with IAS 1 and IAS 8, we apply the accounting and disclosure principles consistently from one period

to the next. Where significant accounting and valuation errors from earlier periods are corrected, the amounts involved are adjusted retroactively. Where
retroactive adjustment is not possible in exceptional circumstances, the amounts involved are adjusted against retained earnings. Where we effect changes in
accounting policies, any resulting adjustments are similarly recognised retrospectively. During the year under review, we made an adjustment compliant
with IAS 8.41 that led to an increase of €127 million in loans and receivables with customers and of €10 million in property, plant and equipment, and

an increase of €137 million in lease liabilities. This had no impact on the income statement in 2010. For materiality reasons, the 2009 figures have not
been adjusted.

Changes in estimates have been recognised in net income for the period affected by the change in the estimation method. Provided the change in the
estimation method does not affect the income statement, the carrying amount of the concerned asset or liability, or shareholders’ equity position has
been adjusted.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the assumption of a going concern. Accounting and valuation in accordance with IFRS contains
values that have been determined reliably using estimates and assumptions. The estimates and assumptions applied are based on past experience and
other factors such as budgets, expectations and forecasts regarding future events which seem appropriate under the present circumstances. This mainly
effects the determination of the fair values of certain financial assets and liabilities, net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and commit-
ments, deferred taxes, and the accounting and valuation of provisions. The actual values may differ from the assumptions and estimates made.

Apart from this, the accounting valuation and publishing principles applied in 2010 are the same as those applied in the consolidated financial statements
for 2009, with the exception of the new IFRS rules to be applied as described in Note 3 below.

3 Initial adoption of new IFRS accounting rules
The main new IFRS regulations subject to mandatory adoption for the first time in the 2010 financial year are the revised IFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
(IFRS 3 R) and IAS 27 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” (IAS 27 R).

IFRS 3 R defines more closely the application of the purchase method for business combinations. Major changes relate to the measurement of minority
interests, the recognition of business combinations achieved in stages and the treatment of conditional purchase price components and acquisition-
related costs.

IAS 27 R contains revised regulations for the presentation of minority interests when the control relationship does not change as well as for disclosure in
the event of the loss of controlling influence over a subsidiary in the balance sheet.

IFRS 3 R and IAS 27 R did not have any impact on HVB Group in the 2010 financial year as there were no relevant transactions.

The other minor changes to a few of the IFRS standards (2009 Annual Improvements Project, “Improvements to IFRSs”; IFRS 2 “Group Cash-settled
Share-based Payment Transactions” and IAS 39 “Eligible Hedged Iltems”) and the new interpretations (IFRIC 12 “Service Concession Arrangements”,
IFRIC 15 “Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate”, IFRIC 16 “Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation”, IFRIC 17 “Distributions of
Non-cash Assets to Owners” and IFRIC 18 “Transfers of Assets from Customers”) that were applicable for the first time in the 2010 financial year did
not give rise to any, or any significant effects on the consolidated financial statements. When IFRIC 12, 15 and 16 were adopted into European law,
the original date of compulsory application set by the IASB was changed by the EU such that these interpretations would be subject to mandatory
adoption for the first time in the 2010 financial year.

4 Published IFRS that are not yet the subject of mandatory adoption and that have not been the subject of early adoption

As permitted, we have decided against the early voluntary adoption of the standard and interpretations adopted or revised by the IASB, which only
become the subject of mandatory adoption for the 2011 financial year or thereafter. The Bank is planning to apply these in the financial year in which the
standards in question become applicable for the first time.
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The EU has adopted the following into European law:

— Annual Improvements Project 2010 “Improvements to IFRSs”. The improvements are subject to obligatory adoption for reporting periods beginning
on or after 30 June 2010 or 31 December 2010.

— Amendments to IAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”. The amendments are applicable for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.

— Amendments to IAS 32 “Classification of Right Issues”. The amendments are subject to obligatory adoption in reporting periods beginning on or after
1 February 2010.

— IFRIC 19 “Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments”. The provisions are applicable for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010.

— Amendments to IFRIC 14 “Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement”. The amendments are subject to obligatory adoption for reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.

The EU has not yet adopted the following into European law:

— IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. The provisions are subject to obligatory adoption for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

— Amendments to IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”. The amendments are applicable for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.

— Amendments to IAS 12 “Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets”. The amendments are subject to obligatory adoption for reporting periods be-
ginning on or after 1 January 2012.

The new IFRS 9, only part of which has so far been published by the IASB and which has not yet been transformed into European law by the EU and for
which the date of introduction is still under discussion, will have a significant impact on the presentation and measurement of financial instruments. The
effects are still being analysed. At the same time, however, we do not expect the remaining standards and interpretations to be applied in the future to
have any significant effects on the consolidated financial statements.

5 Companies included in consolidation
The group of companies included in consolidation by HVB Group encompasses 146 (2009: 96) subsidiaries. The group of consolidated companies also
includes 43 (2009: 41) companies and fund assets which SIC 12 requires to be consolidated as special purpose entities.

The group of companies included in consolidation has been defined taking into account materiality criteria. In addition, smaller companies that are
below the materiality thresholds have also been consolidated on account of the rules defined by the supervisory authorities that regulate UniCredit. In
order to avoid coordination and reconciliation problems, we have decided to gradually expand the group of companies included in consolidation. The
fully consolidated subsidiaries prepared their annual financial statements for the period ending 31 December 2010.

The following companies have different year-end dates:

— Arabella Finance Ltd., Dublin, 30 September

— Central European Confectionery Holdings B.V., Amsterdam, 31 March
— Kinabalu Financial Products LLP, London, 30 November

— Kinabalu Financial Solutions Limited, London, 30 November

— Salome Funding Plc., Dublin, 31 March

— Redstone Mortgages Limited, London, 30 September.

When the consolidated financial statements are being prepared, interim financial statements are prepared at the corporate year-end date for companies
with year-end dates of 31 March or 30 September. The annual financial statements of Kinabalu Financial Products LLP and Kinabalu Financial Solutions
Limited were carried forward to 31 December 2010, meaning that a total of 13 months are covered (1 December 2009 to 31 December 2010). No
events of particular significance for the net assets, financial position or results of operations occurred at these companies in December 2009.

The group of consolidated companies does not include any companies for which the proportionate consolidation method is applied. UniCredit Global
Information Services Societa per Azioni (UGIS) has been consolidated using the equity method since 1 May 2009.
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In 2010, the following companies and special purpose entities, among others, were newly added to the group of companies included in consolidation at
HVB Group:

— AB Immobilienverwaltungs-GmbH, Munich

— Active Asset Management GmbH, Griinwald

— Bandon Leasing Limited, Dublin

— Bank Austria ImmobilienService GmbH, Vienna

— BIL Leasing-Fonds GmbH & Co VELUM KG, Munich

— BIL Leasing-Fonds Verwaltungs-GmbH, Munich

— BIL V&V Vermietungs GmbH, Munich

— B.I. International Limited, George Town

— BV Grundstiicksentwicklungs-GmbH, Munich

— Claris Limited — Series 64/2006, St. Helier

— Central European Confectionery Holdings B.V., Amsterdam

— Elektra Purchase No. 1 Ltd., St. Helier

— Elektra Purchase No.18 Limited, Dublin

— Food & more GmbH, Munich

— Geldilux-TS-2010 S.A., Luxembourg

— Grand Central Re Limited, Hamilton

— HVB Asset Leasing Limited, London

— HVB Export Leasing GmbH, Munich

— HVB Gesellschaft fiir Gebaude Beteiligungs GmbH, Munich

— HVB Global Assets Company (GP), LLC, Dover

— HVB Hong Kong Limited, Hong Kong

— HVB International Asset Leasing GmbH, Munich

— HVB London Investments (AVON) Limited, London

— HVB London Investments (CAM) Limited, London

— HVB Principal Equity GmbH, Munich

— HVB Realty Capital Inc., New York

— HVB Secur GmbH, Munich

— HVB Verwa 1 GmbH, Munich

— HVBFF Internationale Leasing GmbH, Munich

— HVBFF International Greece GmbH, Munich

— HVBFF Produktionshalle GmbH, Munich

— HVBFF Objekt Beteiligungs GmbH, Munich

— Hypo-Bank Verwaltungszentrum GmbH, Munich

— Life Management Zweite GmbH, Griinwald

— Life Management Erste GmbH, Munich

— Movie Market Beteiligungs GmbH, Munich

— NF Objekte Berlin GmbH, Munich

— NF Objekt Miinchen GmbH, Munich

— NF Objekt FFM GmbH, Munich

— “Portia” Grundstlicksverwaltungs-Gesellschaft mit beschrénkter Haftung, Munich
— RHOTERRA Gesellschaft fir Immobilienverwaltung mbH, Munich
— Salvatorplatz-Grundstlicksgesellschaft mbH, Munich

— Salvatorplatz-Grundstiicksgesellschaft mbH & Co. OHG Saarland, Munich
— Status Vermdgensverwaltung GmbH, Schwerin

— Structured Invest Société Anonyme, Luxembourg

— Terronda Development B.V., Amsterdam

— The Trans Value Trust Company Ltd., Tokyo

— Trinitrade Vermdgensverwaltungs-Gesellschaft mit beschrankter Haftung, Munich
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— UniCredit (China) Advisory Limited, Beijing

— UniCredit Beteiligungs GmbH, Munich

— UniCredit CAIB AG, Vienna

— UniCredit CAIB Securities UK Ltd., London

— UniCredit Direct Services GmbH, Munich

— U.S. Property Investments, Inc., Dallas

— Verba Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Munich

— Verwaltungsgesellschaft Katharinenhof mbH, Hamburg
— WealthCap PEIA Komplementar GmbH, Munich

— WealthCap Stiftungstreuhand GmbH, Hamburg.

On account of the extensions to the group of companies included in consolidation described, HVB added Grand Central Re Ltd. (GCR), City of Hamilton,
Bermuda, in which it holds a 92.5% interest, to the group of companies included in consolidation with effect from 31 December 2010 as a subsidiary
by way of full consolidation. GCR markets structured reinsurance services in the fields of life, property and accident insurance and generates most

of its revenues by charging insurance premiums and generating capital gains (assets under management: €73 million). GCR’s risk transfer business is
declining. GCR holds a decreasing portfolio of reinsurance policies; it does not underwrite any new insurance risks.

With effect from 1 June 2010, HVB acquired UniCredit CAIB AG and its subsidiary, UniCredit CAIB Securities UK Ltd., from UniCredit Bank Austria AG,
Vienna. As this business combination is an intra-group transaction within UniCredit, IFRS 3 does not apply to the acquisition of the two companies (IFRS
3.2 (c): business combinations involving entities or businesses under common control). The first-time inclusion of CAIB caused the total assets of HVB
Group to rise by around €21 billion at the time of initial consolidation, of which €14.1 billion relates to financial assets held for trading and €5.5 billion to
loans and receivables with banks. Upon its entry in the Commercial Register on 1 July 2010, UniCredit CAIB AG was absorbed by UniCredit Bank AG. It
will continue to operate within a modified structure as HVB’s Vienna branch and assigned to the CIB division.

In 2010, the following companies and special purpose entities left the group of companies included in consolidation of HVB Group due to absorption or
liquidation, among others:

— Beteiligungs- und Handelsgesellschaft in Hamburg mit beschrénkter Haftung, Hamburg

— Claris Limited — Series 64/2006, St. Helier

— Geldilux-TS-2005 S.A., Luxembourg

— Geldilux-TS-2009 S.A., Luxembourg

— UniCredit CAIB AG, Vienna.

In total, we have 181 affiliated and associated companies, and joint ventures in HVB Group that were neither fully consolidated nor fully accounted for
using the equity method as they do not have a material impact for the Group.

The effects on the balance sheet of the contractual relationships between the Group companies and these non-consolidated companies are included in
the consolidated financial statements. The aggregate net income for the year of these minor non-consolidated affiliated companies makes up around
0.8% of the consolidated profit of HVB Group, while such companies provide around 0.1% of consolidated assets. Our interests in these companies are
carried as available-for-sale financial assets.

2010 2009
Total subsidiaries 313 343
Consolidated companies 146 96
Non-consolidated companies 167 247
Joint ventures 6 6
of which:
accounted for using the equity method — —
Associated companies 9 9
of which:
accounted for using the equity method 1 1
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6 Principles of consolidation

Consolidation is performed by offsetting the purchase price of an affiliated company against the value of the interest held in the completely remeasured
shareholders’ equity at the time of acquisition, provided the transactions involved are not internal to UniCredit. This amount represents the difference
between the assets and liabilities of the acquired company measured at the fair value at the time of initial consolidation. The difference between the
higher acquisition cost and the prorated recalculated shareholders’ equity is recognised as goodwill under intangible assets in the balance sheet.
Goodwill on companies accounted for using the equity method is carried under shares in associates valued at equity and joint ventures valued at equity.
Compliant with IAS 36, depreciation is not recognised on goodwill. The goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from
the synergies arising from the business combination. At HVB Group, these cash-generating units are the divisions. Where the commercial activities of a
company span more than one segment, the goodwill is distributed in line with the expected contribution to results at the time of acquisition. The goodwill
is tested for impairment at least once a year at cash-generating unit level. This involves comparing the carrying amount of the CGU with the recoverable
amount defined as the maximum of the unit’s value in use and the fair value less costs to sell. Since the value in use far exceeds the carrying amount
for the CGUs to which goodwill is allocated, the values in use have been used as the recoverable amount. When the values in use are calculated, the
divisional (5-year) plans are employed as the basis and division-specific rates in a range from 9.45% to 12.03% for the cost of capital is used for
discounting. No growth factor has been assumed for the government perpetuity.

IFRS 3 is not applicable to combinations of businesses under common control (IFRS 3.2 (c)). IAS 8.10 requires an appropriate accounting and valuation
method to be developed accordingly for such cases. Given that HVB Group is part of UniCredit, the carrying amounts of the parent company are retained
for business combinations within UniCredit. Any difference between the purchase price paid and the net carrying amount of the company acquired is
recognised in equity under reserves.

Compliant with IAS 28, shares in associates are accounted for using the equity method and disclosed in the balance sheet accordingly. HVB is able to
exercise significant influence over associates without being able to control them. Significant influence is assumed when a company holds more than 20%
but less than 50% of the voting rights in an associate. This assumption of association can be refuted where a qualitative analysis demonstrates that sig-
nificant influence over the financial and strategic decisions of the associate is not possible. Shares in associates are recognised at cost upon initial inclu-
sion in the consolidated financial statements. For the purposes of subsequent measurement, the carrying amount increases or decreases in accordance
with the share of HVB in the profit or loss of the associate. This share of the associate’s profit or loss attributable to HVB is measured on the basis of the
fair values of the associate’s assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities when the shares were acquired. The accounting and valuation principles of HVB
Group are applied for subsequent measurement.

SIC 12 requires us to consolidate special purpose entities provided, in substance, the majority of the risks and rewards incident to the activities of
these special purpose entities is attributable to us or, in substance, we control the special purpose entities. Where they are material, they are included in
consolidation. An interest in the equity capital of the special purpose entities is immaterial in this regard.

The assets and liabilities of the special purpose entity are included at the balance sheet date measured at their fair value when initially consolidated in
accordance with SIC 12. They are subsequently measured in accordance with the uniform principles of accounting and valuation used across the
corporate group. The expenses and income of the special purpose entity in question have been included in the consolidated income statement from the
date of initial consolidation. Equity interests held by third parties in a special purpose entity consolidated by us in accordance with SIC 12 are recognised
under minority interest.

Business transactions between consolidated companies are eliminated. Any profits or losses arising from intercompany transactions are also eliminated.
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7 Financial instruments
Afinancial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset of one company and a financial liability or equity instrument of another
company.

The classes required by IFRS 7.6 are defined as follows:

— Cash and cash reserves

— Financial assets and liabilities held for trading

— Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

— Available-for-sale financial assets (measured at cost)

— Available-for-sale financial assets (measured at fair value)

— Held-to-maturity investments

— Loans and receivables with banks (classified as loans and receivables)

— Loans and receivables with customers (classified as loans and receivables)
— Hedging derivatives

— Other liabilities (deposits from customers, deposits from banks, debt securities in issue)
— Financial guarantees and irrevocable lending commitments.

Among other things, the balance sheet disclosures and earnings contributions of the financial instruments must be shown separately, broken down by
the IAS 39 valuation categories. In the present consolidated financial statements, we have included these changes in the explanatory notes to the balance
sheet and the income statement. The information required by IFRS 7 regarding risks in connection with financial instruments is also provided in the

Risk Report within the Management’s Discussion and Analysis. Compliant with IFRS 7.36 (a), the maximum credit exposure is the same as the carrying
amount of the risk-bearing financial instruments or, in the case of financial guarantees and lending commitments, the nominal amount disclosed in

Note 79 for the guarantee/amount of the lending commitments not yet utilised.

IAS 39 requires all financial instruments to be recognised in the balance sheet, classified in the given categories and measured in line with this
classification.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
The “at fair value through profit or loss” category is divided into two categories:

— Financial assets and liabilities held for trading.
Financial assets and liabilities classified as held for trading at the time of initial recognition are financial instruments acquired or incurred for the
purpose of short-term profit-taking as a result of changes in market prices or of realising a profit margin. This category also includes all derivatives
(apart from hedging derivatives) which qualify for hedge accounting. Financial assets and liabilities held-for-trading purposes are shown under
financial assets and liabilities held for trading.

— All financial assets designated as financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition (fair value option).
We only use the fair value option for certain financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. In this context,
we have limited ourselves mostly to the designation option of the accounting mismatch by means of which recognition or measurement inconsisten-
cies are avoided or considerably reduced in economic hedges for which hedge accounting is not applied. Only for a specific, smaller portfolio is the
designation based on fair value-based risk management.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are disclosed upon initial recognition at their fair value without any transaction costs.

Both financial assets held for trading and fair value option portfolios are measured at fair value. Changes in value are recognised in the income statement.
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Loans and receivables

The category “loans and receivables” includes non-derivative financial assets — both originated by us and acquired — with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market unless they are classified as at fair value through profit or loss or available for sale (AfS). We classify leveraged
buyout financing as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables originated by the company are measured at amortised cost and capitalised under loans
and receivables with banks, and loans and receivables with customers. Premiums and discounts are taken to the income statement under net interest
income over the term of the underlying items. Loans and receivables are disclosed upon initial recognition at their fair value including any transaction
costs.

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity (HtM) investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that an entity has the
positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, unless they are designated as at fair value through profit or loss, or available for sale. The Bank takes

a very restrictive approach when assessing whether the intention to hold to maturity exists and premature resale can be excluded (discretionary decision).
This means that investments are only classified as held-to-maturity in exceptional cases. Held-to-maturity investments are disclosed upon initial recogni-
tion at their fair value including any transaction costs and thereafter measured at amortised cost, with premiums and discounts taken to the income
statement under net interest income over the term of the underlying items.

Available-for-sale financial assets
All other non-derivative financial assets are classified as available-for-sale (AfS) securities and receivables. A distinction is made within this category be-
tween measurement at fair value and measurement at amortised cost.

— Debt instruments and equity instruments for which the fair value can be reliably determined are measured at fair value. The difference between the
fair value and amortised cost is carried in a separate item under shareholders’ equity (AfS reserve) in the balance sheet until the asset is sold or an
impairment to be recognised in profit or loss has occurred. Premiums and discounts on debt instruments are taken to the income statement under
net interest income over the term of the underlying items.

— Equity instruments for which there is no quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably determined are measured at
amortised cost. Besides shares in unlisted companies, this primarily concerns investments in private equity funds, which we measure at cost. It is not
possible to reliably determine a fair value for these equity instruments since there is no active market in these instruments and, especially with regard
to investments in private equity funds, the Bank as shareholder with a small holding does not have enough influence to obtain the necessary data
promptly for a model-based determination of fair value. Consequently, they are not included in the AfS reserve.

The regulations set forth in IAS 39 regarding reclassifications have been observed. Purchases and sales of financial assets are normally recognised at the
trade date.

Determination of fair value

We can normally reliably determine the fair value of financial instruments measured at fair value. Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction (other than in a forced or liquidation sale) at the
balance sheet date.

The fair value is determined in accordance with the following valuation hierarchy (IAS 39.48 et seq. in conjunction with IAS 39.AG 71 et seq.).

Listed prices on an active market are used as fair value:

— Prices on the closing date

— Prices shortly before the closing date to be adjusted to the extent that the economic data have changed materially since the date the price was
determined.
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If there is no active market, the fair value is derived using valuation methods:

— The latest transactions between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction for an identical financial instrument are used

— The amount is compared with the current fair value of a different, essentially identical financial instrument

— Valuation models are used (such as discounting of expected cash flows, option price models or other valuation models normally used by market
players to value these financial instruments) as far as possible taking into account normal market valuation parameters. In exceptional cases, where
price-related factors cannot be included as separate parameters in the model, these factors are taken into account by using a model reserve.

For the first time, the risk of a counterparty defaulting on derivatives is covered by counterparty valuation adjustments (CVAS).

The own credit spread is also included in the underlying valuation parameters for liabilities held for sale. Suitable adjustments are taken on the fair values
determined in this way to reflect further factors affecting the fair value (such as the liquidity of the financial instrument or model risks when the fair value
is determined using a valuation model).

In addition to the method described above for the valuation or determination of fair values, the fair values in the hierarchy compliant with IFRS 7.27 A are
shown in Note 75 for further information. A three-level, fair value hierarchy is listed for every class of financial asset and financial liability carried at fair
value in the balance sheet. Note 75 similarly contains a detailed description of this hierarchy, which is only used for the purpose of disclosure in the notes.

Financial guarantees
Under IAS 39, a financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specific debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument.

Viewed overall, the fair value of a financial guarantee is zero when the contract is concluded because the value of the premium received will normally
match the value of the guarantee obligation in standard market contracts. The guarantee premium is recognised on a pro-rata basis. The need for an
allowance to be taken for losses on guarantees is checked during the subsequent measurement.

Credit derivatives, and most notably standardised credit default swaps (CDSs), are measured at fair value through profit or loss as they are considered
derivatives held for trading and not financial guarantees.

Embedded derivatives

Outside the portfolio held-for-trading purposes or designated at fair value through profit or loss, embedded derivative financial instruments that must
be separated within a structured product are detached from the underlying contract and recorded as separate derivative financial instruments. The
underlying contract is then accounted for in accordance with the classification made. The change in value arising from the derivatives that are detached
and carried at fair value is recognised in the income statement.

Hedge accounting

Hedges between financial instruments are recognised in accordance with the forms of the fair value hedge described in IAS 39. In 2008 and 2009,

HVB Group changed the previously applied macro cash flow hedge accounting to the fair value hedge similarly permitted by IAS 39 for interest-rate risks
at portfolio level in large areas of asset/liability interest-rate risk management. This is described additionally below alongside the principles covering
general fair value hedges.

A fair value hedge is generally a hedge of the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset, liability or an unrecognised firm commitment
— or an identified portion thereof — that is attributable to a particular risk and that might affect net income for the period. In this respect, a high level of
effectiveness is required, with the changes in the fair value of the hedged item with regard to the hedged risk and hedging derivative compensating each
other within a range of 80% to 125%. In fair value hedge accounting, we use interest rate and credit derivatives to hedge changes in the fair value of
recognised assets and liabilities. Under this method, the hedging instrument is measured at fair value through profit or loss. The carrying amounts of the
hedged item are adjusted by the valuation results relating to the hedged risk in a way that affects the income statement.
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Starting in 2009, we have applied fair value hedge accounting for credit risks (micro fair value hedge). The purpose of hedge accounting for credit risks is
to reduce the volatility in the income statement. This is done by including existing hedges in hedge accounting. Otherwise existing inconsistencies upon
valuation (accounting mismatch) are corrected by hedge accounting.

As part of hedge accounting for credit risks, in accordance with IAS 39.86 (a) the credit-induced changes in the fair value of selected hedged items such
as loans and receivables with customers and irrevocable credit commitments (off-balance-sheet fixed commitments) and the full-induced changes in the
fair value of the hedging instrument (credit default swap, CDS) are offset. Remaining-term effects need to be adjusted in this context.

These remaining-term effects lead to a change in the credit-induced fair value over time without the current market credit spread changing. Among other
things, this includes a difference between the nominal amount and the credit-induced fair value at the inception of the hedge. Excluding the possibility of
an impairment, the credit-induced fair value on the settlement date will correspond to the nominal amount of the hedged item. Any difference between
the credit-risk-induced fair value and the nominal amount existing when the hedge is designated amortises over the remaining time (pull-to-par effect).
Differences like this can arise when hedged items are designated at a later date rather than when originated, for instance, since the contractually agreed
credit spread does not generally match the normal market credit spread at the inception of the hedge in such cases.

The change in the credit-induced fair value determined in this way (after adjustment for remaining-term effects) is taken to the income statement under
effects arising from hedge accounting in net trading income. Where the hedged items are assets recognised in the balance sheet, the carrying amount is
adjusted for the changes in the credit-induced fair value. Irrevocable credit commitments (fixed commitments not shown in the balance sheet), on the
other hand, are not recognised in the balance sheet. The credit-related changes in the fair value relating to these are carried under other assets in the
balance sheet.

We show the associated hedging instruments (CDSs) at their fair value as hedging derivatives; the changes in the fair value are similarly taken to the
income statement as effects arising from hedge accounting in net trading income.

The hedge is terminated compliant with IAS 39.91 if either the hedging instrument or the hedged item expires, the hedge is no longer efficient, or the
Bank decides to terminate the hedge.

When the hedge is terminated, the credit-induced changes in the fair value accruing to that date with regard to the hedged risk (hedge adjustment) are
amortised over the remaining term of the hedged item. This amortisation is disclosed in net interest income. If the hedged item similarly expires upon
termination of the hedge exceptionally (e.g. in the event of early repayment by the borrower), the hedge adjustment accruing to that date is taken directly
to the income statement.

If the hedge is terminated prior to the hedging instrument maturing, this derivative is assigned to the held-for-trading portfolio at fair value and continues
to be recognised at fair value under net trading income in the income.

In accordance with I1AS 39, we apply the fair value hedge accounting for a portfolio hedge of interest rate risk for the accounting treatment of interest rate
risk in asset/liability interest rate risk management. Recognising a fair value hedge for a portfolio of interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities using
interest rate derivatives makes it possible to largely reflect the standard bank risk management procedures for the hedging of fixed interest rate risks in
the accounts.

Under this accounting treatment of hedges across several items, the changes in the value of the hedged amount of the hedged items attributable to the
hedged risk are carried altogether as a separate asset or liability item and not as an adjustment to the carrying amount of individual items as is the case
with micro hedges. The hedge adjustments have been recognised on a gross basis in the balance sheet for subsidiaries for which asset and liability
holdings can be hedged separately. The hedged amount of the hedged items is determined as part of interest rate risk management; the liabilities do not
contain any sight or savings deposits. Thus, we have not made use of sight and savings deposits in the hedged amount as permitted by the EU carved-out
version of IAS 39 in this regard. Where the hedge conditions are met, the offsetting changes in value of the hedged amount of the hedged items and the
hedging instruments (interest derivatives) are recognised directly in profit and loss. Hedge inefficiencies arising within the necessary hedge efficiency
thresholds of 80% to 125% are recognised as profit or loss in net hedging income.
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The cash flow hedge reserve existing at the changeover date and the offsetting clean fair values of the existing cash flow hedge derivatives are
amortised over the remaining term of the hedging derivatives in net interest income. This means that the amortisation of the cash flow hedge reserve
will have no overall impact on profit or loss in the future until they are fully amortised. The changes in value of the same hedged items and hedging
derivatives, together with all new contracts arising after the changeover date, are treated in accordance with the new fair value hedge portfolio model.

CAIB, which was initially consolidated in 2010, employed a cash flow hedge to hedge the risk arising from volatile cash flows. This approach was retained
for a limited period until the technical aspects of integrating CAIB’s holdings into HVB had also been completed, meaning that CAIB did not exist any more
as a separate entity and no longer carried out its own risk management. The cash flow hedge was terminated in line with the migration, with the cash
flow hedge reserve or the clean fair values of the existing hedge being amortised as described above. Thus, HVB Group employed a cash flow hedge for a
transitional period lasting from the initial consolidation of CAIB at 1 June 2010 to the end of the third quarter.

The cash flow hedge was employed to hedge the risk arising from volatile cash flows resulting from a recognised asset, recognised liability or planned
transaction to be taken to the income statement. We have employed derivatives in cash flow hedge accounting to hedge future streams of interest
payments. In this context, payments arising from variable-interest assets and liabilities have been swapped for fixed payments primarily using interest
rate swaps. Hedging instruments were measured at fair value. The valuation result was divided into an effective and an ineffective portion. The effective
portion of the hedging instruments was recognised in a separate item within shareholders’ equity (hedge reserve) without affecting reported profit or
loss. The ineffective portion of the hedging derivatives was recognised directly in profit and loss. The hedged item was recognised at amortised cost.

At the same time, HVB has also employed a fair value hedge for a portfolio of interest rate risks since 2007 for a limited portfolio of liabilities outside of
asset/liability interest rate management.

8 Assets held for trading purposes

This item includes securities held for trading purposes and positive market values of traded derivatives. All other derivatives not classified as hedging
derivatives (which are shown separately in the balance sheet) are similarly considered held for trading. Provided they are held for trading purposes,
promissory notes, registered bonds and treasury bills are carried as other financial assets held for trading.

Financial assets held for trading purposes are carried at fair value. Gains and losses arising from the valuation and realisation of financial assets held for
trading are taken to the income statement as gains less losses arising from trading securities.

9 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

HVB Group mainly applies the fair value option for financial assets with economic hedges for which hedge accounting is not applied. The designation
removes or significantly reduces differences resulting from an accounting mismatch. The portfolio mostly comprises interest-bearing securities not held
for trading that are hedged against interest rate risks by means of interest rate swaps. In the case of promissory note receivables similarly included here,
there is no material fair value change in terms of the credit risk on account of the top rating of the issuers. Changes in fair value of the hedged items and
the associated derivatives are shown separately in net trading income; current interest income/expenses are recognised in net interest income. The
Bank decided in 2010 to make more use of this category and expanded the holding by making additional purchases. Given a fundamental intention to
hold to maturity, the new investments were made primarily with a view to being able to sell the holdings again quickly if necessary (liquidity reserve).
Alongside an accounting mismatch as the main grounds for designation, the designation for a specific, smaller portfolio is based on fair value-based risk
management.

10 Available-for-sale financial assets
We recognise interest-bearing securities, equities and other equity-related securities, investment certificates and participating interests as available-for-
sale financial instruments under available-for-sale financial assets in the balance sheet.

Interest-bearing securities are accrued in accordance with the effective interest method. Should the estimated cash inflows and outflows underlying the
calculation of the effective interest change, the effects are recognised in the income statement as interest income compliant with IAS 39 AG 8.

Available-for-sale financial instruments that are effectively hedged against market risk are recorded as part of fair value hedge accounting.
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Available-for-sale financial instruments also include shares in non-consolidated subsidiaries. Furthermore, joint ventures and associates not accounted
for using the equity method are subsumed in available-for-sale financial instruments, provided they are not significant.

Listed companies are always carried at fair value. Where the fair value cannot be determined reliably for non-listed companies, they are valued at cost.

11 Shares in associated companies and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method
Investments in joint ventures and associated companies are accounted for using the equity method.

12 Held-to-maturity investments
HVB Group has classified interest-bearing assets as held to maturity and recognised them under held-to-maturity investments. Held-to-maturity
investments are measured at amortised cost; the resulting interest income is included in net interest income.

13 Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are recognised in the balance sheet under loans and receivables with banks, and loans and receivables with customers. They
are carried at amortised cost, provided they are not hedged items of a recognised fair value hedge. The amount shown in the balance sheet has been
adjusted for allowances for losses on loans and receivables.

14 Impairment of financial assets
Impairment losses are recognised for financial assets that are measured at amortised cost and classified as available for sale.

An impairment loss is determined in two steps. First, an assessment is made to see if there is any objective evidence that the financial asset is impaired.
The second step involves assessing whether the financial instrument is actually impaired.

Objective evidence of impairment refers to events that normally lead to an actual impairment. In the case of debt instruments, these are events that could
result in the borrower not being able to settle his obligations in full or at the agreed date. In the case of equity instruments, significant or prolonged lower
market values compared with the carrying amount represent objective evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence is provided only by events that have already occurred, not anticipated events in the future.

How an impairment is determined for each relevant category is described below.

In the case of loans and receivables and held-to-maturity financial instruments, an impairment is the difference between the carrying amount and the
present value of the anticipated future cash flows. The future cash flows are determined taking into account past events (objective evidence). The
anticipated future cash flows may comprise the repayment and/or interest payments still expected and the income from the realisation of collateral.
The impairment is the difference between the present value of the anticipated future cash flows and the carrying amount. A specific loan-loss provision
is recognised for the impairment determined in this way.

The same method is applied for held-to-maturity investments.

During subsequent measurement, both changes in the anticipated future cash flows and the time effect arising from a reduction of the discounting
period are taken into account. The difference between the newly determined present value of the anticipated future cash flows at each balance sheet

date and the carrying amount at the previous balance sheet date is recognised as a reversal of or an addition to allowances for losses on loans and
receivables.

In the case of loan receivables, the impairment determined in this way is posted to an impairment account, which reduces the carrying amount of the
receivable on the assets side. In the case of securities, an impairment directly reduces the carrying amount of the security.

In the case of financial guarantees, a possible impairment is determined in the same way; the impairment loss is recognised as a provision.
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Specific loan-loss allowances or provisions to the amount of the anticipated loss have been made individually to cover all identifiable default risks arising

from lending operations (loans, receivables and financial guarantees), with the amount of the expense being estimated. Specific loan-loss allowances are
also determined on a collective basis for individual cases where the amounts involved are not significant. These allowances are recognised and disclosed
within specific loan-loss allowances at HVB Group. Specific loan-loss allowances are reversed as soon as the reason for forming the allowance no longer
exists, or used if the receivable is classified as uncollectable and written off. Acute country-specific transfer risks are included in this process.

In the case of receivables (and guarantees) for which no specific allowances have been formed, portfolio allowances are set up to cover losses

(= impairments) that have been incurred but not yet recognised by the Bank at the balance sheet date. We apply the loss confirmation period method for
this. The loss confirmation period represents the period between a default event occurring or a borrower defaulting, and the point at which the Bank
identifies the default. The loss confirmation period is determined separately for various credit portfolios on the basis of statistical surveys. The loss that
has occurred but has not yet been recognised is estimated by means of the expected loss.

In the case of assets classified as available for sale, a distinction is made between debt and equity instruments.

A debt instrument is impaired when an event occurs that results in the borrower not being able to settle his contractual obligations in full or at the agreed
date. Essentially, an impairment exists in the same cases as for credit receivables from the same borrower (issuer).

The amount of the impairment is defined as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, whereby the difference first recognised
in the AfS reserve in the balance sheet is taken to the income statement when an impairment occurs.

Should the reason for the impairment no longer apply, the difference between the higher market value and the carrying amount at the previous balance
sheet date is written back in the income statement up to the amount of initial cost. If the current market value at the balance sheet date exceeds the initial
cost, the difference is recognised in the AfS reserve under shareholders’ equity.

In the case of equity instruments carried at fair value, an impairment exists if the current fair value is significantly below the carrying amount or if the fair
value has remained below the carrying amount for a prolonged period of time. Where this is the case, the difference between the current fair value and
initial cost is recognised as profit or loss in the income statement. Such an impairment recognised in profit or loss has to be considered for the new cost
basis required for the calculation of the AfS reserve. If the fair value rises in the future, the difference between a higher fair value and the initial cost
adjusted as described is recognised in the AfS reserve under shareholders’ equity.

Equity instruments valued at cost are considered impaired if the present value is significantly or permanently less than the acquisition cost (or, if an
impairment has already been recognised in the past, it is less than the acquisition cost less the recognised impairment). If there is objective evidence
of an impairment, the present value of the equity instruments must be determined. The estimated future cash flows discounted by the current market
return on a comparable asset are used as the basis for determining this value. The amount of the impairment is calculated as the difference between
the present carrying amount and the value of the equity instrument determined as described above. The impairment is taken to the income statement.
An impairment of an equity instrument is not permitted to be reversed if the reasons for the impairment no longer apply.

15 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is valued at acquisition or production cost less depreciation — insofar as the assets are depreciable — using the straight-
line method based on the assets’ useful lives. Fixtures in rented buildings are depreciated over the term of the rental contract, taking into account any
extension options, if this is shorter than the normal useful life of the asset concerned.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT USEFUL ECONOMIC LIFE
Buildings 25-50 years
Fixtures in buildings not owned 10-25 years
Computer equipment 3-5years
Other plant and office equipment 3-25 years
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Impairments are taken on property, plant and equipment whose value is impaired. Should the reasons for the impairment no longer apply, a subsequent
write-up is taken to the income statement; the amount of this subsequent write-up must not increase the value of the property, plant and equipment to a
level in excess of the amortised acquisition or production cost.

Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is capitalised, provided additional future economic benefits will flow to the
Bank. Expenditure on repairs or maintenance of property, plant and equipment is recognised as expense in the year in which it is incurred.

Government grants for items of property, plant and equipment (IAS 20.24) are deducted from the acquisition or production cost of the underlying assets
on the assets side of the balance sheet.

16 Lease operations
Under IAS 17, lease operations are divided into finance leases and operating leases. Unlike an operating lease, a finance lease is a lease that transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership of an asset to the lessee. Title may or may not eventually be transferred.

HVB Group as lessor

Under finance leases, the lessor recognises the leased asset in the balance sheet as a receivable from the lessee at an amount equal to the net
investment in the lease. The lease payments are broken down into the finance charge and the redemption payment. The redemption payment reduces
the amount of the outstanding liability (net investment); the finance charge is treated as interest income. Interest and similar income is recognised on the
basis of a constant, periodic rate of return relating to the net investment outstanding. The term “net investment” is defined in detail in Note 50, “Loans
and receivables with customers”. HVB Group currently leases mobile assets as a lessor under finance leases.

In contrast, assets held under operating leases are recognised as and valued using the same principles as property, plant and equipment. Revenue under
these arrangements is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. HVB Group leases both movable property and real estate as a lessor under
operating leases.

HVB Group as lessee
Under a finance lease, the asset is recognised as property, plant and equipment, and the obligation as a liability. Each asset is stated at the lower of the

following two values: either the fair value of the leased asset at the inception of the lease or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments.
In calculating the present value of the minimum lease payments, the internal rate implicit in the lease is applied.

The lease payments relating to finance leases are broken down into two components: the finance charge and the redemption payment. The redemption
payment reduces the residual liability and the finance charge is shown as interest expense.

Lease payments relating to operating leases are treated as rental expense and recognised in other operating expenses or operating costs. The corres-
ponding leased assets are not recognised. Contracts in which HVB Group acts as lessee are comparatively insignificant.

17 Investment property
Compliant with IAS 40.30 in conjunction with IAS 40.56, as of 2010 land and buildings held by us as investments with a view to generating rental income
and/or capital gains are carried at amortised cost and written down on a straight-line basis over a useful economic life of 25 to 50 years.

Current expenses and rental income from investment properties is disclosed in net other expenses/income. Scheduled depreciation on such investments
carried at amortised cost is included in operating expenses, whereas impairments are recognised in net income from investments.
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18 Intangible assets

The main items included in intangible assets are goodwill arising from the acquisition of fully consolidated subsidiaries and software. An intangible asset
shall only be recognised if it is probable that the expected future economic benefits attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the cost of the asset
can be measured reliably. Compliant with IAS 36, depreciation is no longer taken on goodwill. The value of goodwill is tested annually and where there is
an indication of impairment. Impairments are taken where necessary. Software is valued at amortised cost and written down over an expected useful life
of three to five years. All other intangible assets are amortised over a period of up to ten years, as they have a limited useful life.

19 Non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale

Under IFRS 5, non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale are carried at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell at the
balance sheet date. Following reclassification, the non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale are carried at fair value (less costs to sell) but at an
amount no more than their amortised cost.

20 Liabilities
Deposits from banks and customers, and debt securities in issue that are not hedged items of an effective micro fair value hedge are reported at
amortised cost. Upon initial recognition, they are disclosed at their fair value including any transaction costs.

21 Financial liabilities held for trading

This item includes the negative market values of traded derivatives and all other derivatives that are not classified as hedging derivatives (which are
recognised separately). Also included here are warrants, certificates and bonds issued by our trading department as well as delivery obligations arising
from short sales of securities held for trading purposes.

Financial liabilities held for trading are carried at fair value. Gains and losses arising from the valuation and realisation of financial liabilities held for
trading are taken to the income statement as net trading income. We act as market maker for the structured products we issue.

22 Hedge adjustment of hedged items in the fair value hedge portfolio

Net changes in the value of the hedged amount of hedged items are carried in this hedge adjustment of the fair value hedge portfolio to be shown
separately (see Note 65). The hedge adjustments have been recognised on a gross basis in the balance sheet for subsidiaries for which asset and liability
holdings can be hedged separately.

23 Other liabilities

Compliant with IAS 37, accruals and other items are shown under other liabilities. These reflect future expenditure of uncertain timing or amount, but
the uncertainty is much less than for provisions. Accruals are liabilities for goods and services provided or received that have been neither paid for nor
invoiced by the supplier, nor formally agreed. This also includes current liabilities to employees, such as flexi-time credits and outstanding vacation.
Accruals are carried at the amount likely to be used.

24 Provisions
Present legal or constructive obligations as a result of past events involving a probable outflow of resources, and whose amount can be reliably estimated,
are recognised as provisions.
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When assessing provisions for uncertain liabilities and anticipated losses on onerous transactions, we use a best estimate compliant with IAS 37.36 et
seq. Long-term provisions are discounted.

In accordance with IAS 19, we use actuarial principles to determine the provisions for pensions and similar commitments. The amounts are calculated
using the projected unit credit method, taking into account the present value of the defined benefit obligations, the fair value of plan assets, and unreal-
ised actuarial gains and losses. Causes of such gains and losses include irregularities in the risk profile (e.g. higher or lower rates of early retirement or
mortality than anticipated in the calculation principles applied) and changes in the applicable parameters.

HVB Group exercises the option for recognising actuarial gains or losses in shareholders’ equity (other comprehensive income) outside the profit or loss
for the period permitted in IAS 19.93A.

The discount rate is based on the long-term interest rate for prime, fixed-yield corporate bonds at the balance sheet date. The amount of the provision
shown in the balance sheet is calculated as the present value of the obligation determined at the end of the financial year less the fair value of the plan
assets determined at the end of the financial year. The plan assets set up by HVB and a number of subsidiaries to fund pension obligations are described
in detail in Note 69, “Provisions”.

25 Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in euros, which is the reporting currency of the corporate group. Amounts in foreign currency are
translated in accordance with the principles set forth in IAS 21. This standard calls for monetary items not denominated in the respective functional
currency (generally the local currency in each case) and cash transactions not completed at the valuation date to be translated into euros using current
market rates. Non-monetary items carried at fair value are similarly translated into euros using current market prices at the valuation date. Non-monetary
items carried at cost are translated using the historic rate applicable at the time of acquisition.

Income and expense items arising from foreign currency translation at the individual Group companies are stated under net trading income in the income
statement.

Where they are not stated in euros, the assets and liabilities reported by our subsidiaries are translated using current market rates at the balance sheet
date in the consolidated financial statements. Transaction rates are used to translate the income and expenses of these subsidiaries.

Exchange rate differences resulting from the translation of a foreign operation are recognised in shareholders’ equity without affecting profit or loss and
are only taken to the income statement if the operation is sold in part or in full.

26 Income tax for the period

Income tax for the period is accounted for in accordance with the principles set forth in IAS 12. Apart from a few exceptions allowed for in the standard,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences between the values stated in accordance with IFRS and the values stated for
tax-reporting purposes (balance sheet approach). Deferred tax assets arising from unused losses carried forward for tax-reporting purposes are shown
where permitted by IAS 12.

Since the concept is based on the approach of future tax assets and liabilities under the liability method, the assets and liabilities are computed using the
tax rates that are expected to apply when the differences are reversed.
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27 Notes to segment reporting by division
In segment reporting, the market-related activities of HVB Group are divided into the following globally active divisions: Corporate & Investment Banking,
Retail, and Private Banking.

Also shown is the Other/consolidation segment that covers Global Banking Services (GBS) and Group Corporate Centre activities and the effects of
consolidation.

Changes in segment allocation

In the second quarter of 2010, we launched our One for Clients programme (One4C), which required the resegmentation of affluent private customers as
well as small and medium-sized companies. The overall goal of this programme is the consistent alignment of the Bank with a sustainable customer busi-
ness model, using it to achieve even closer and more targeted relationship management for our customers. In a first phase, customers with free assets of
at least €500,000 were moved from the Retail division to the Private Banking division, and customers with assets of less than €500,000 transferred from
the Private Banking division to the Retail division in the second quarter of 2010. This reorganisation resulted in an overall shift in customers from the Re-
tail division to the Private Banking division.

In addition to this transfer of customers between divisions under One4C, other smaller reorganisations took place in 2010, particularly regarding
operating costs. The previous year’s figures and those of the previous quarters have been adjusted accordingly to reflect changes in the segment
allocations described above.

A further phase of One4C, involving the transfer of small and medium-sized companies with revenues of up to €50 million from the Corporate & Invest-
ment Banking division, commenced at the start of 2011 as planned. To coincide with the expansion of the customer base, the Retail division was
renamed Family & SME at the start of 2011. This resegmentation is not included in the segment figures shown in this annual report.

Method of segment reporting

Segment reporting is based on the internal organisational and management structure together with internal financial reporting. In accordance with IFRS 8
“Operating Segments”, segment reporting thus follows the Management Approach, which requires segment information to be presented externally in the
same way as it is regularly used by the Management Board, as the responsible management body, when allocating resources (especially risk-weighted
assets compliant with Basel Il) to the business segments and assessing profitability (profit before tax). Since the income statement of HVB Group broken
down by segment is reported internally to the Management Board of HVB down to profit before tax, we have also taken the profit before tax as the basis
for external reporting. In this context, the segment data is determined in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

In segment reporting, the divisions operate as autonomous companies with their own equity resources and responsibility for profits and losses. The

divisions are delimited by responsibility for serving customers. For a description of the customer groups assigned to the individual segments and the main
components of the segments, please refer to the section entitled “Components of the segments of HVB Group” below.
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The total revenues shown in the segments, such as net fees and commissions and net trading profit, are based almost exclusively on transactions
involving external customers. Net interest income is assigned to the segments in accordance with the market interest calculation method on the basis of
the external interest income and interest expenses. For this reason, a separate presentation broken down by external/internal revenues (total revenues)
has not been included. The equity capital allocation used to calculate the return on investment on companies assigned to several divisions is based on

a uniform core capital allocation for each division. Pursuant to Basel I, this involves allocating 6.7% of core capital from risk-weighted assets to the
divisions. The average tied core capital calculated in this way is used to compute the return on investment, which is disclosed under net interest income.
The percentage used to assess the equity capital allocated to the companies assigned to several divisions (HVB, UniCredit Luxembourg) equals the 6-year
average of the 5-year euro swap rate plus a premium in the amount of the 6-year average of the 5-year UniCredit S.p.A. spread. This rate is set for one
year in advance as part of each budgeting process. The percentage changed from 4.30% in 2009, to 4.09% for the 2010 financial year. Equity capital is
not standardised for the other companies included in the consolidated financial statements.

The income of €6 million from investments in associated companies relates to UniCredit Global Information Services Societa Consortile per Azioni (UGIS),
a company accounted for using the equity method, and is assigned to the Other/consolidation segment. The amount involved is disclosed under net
interest income in the income statement. The carrying amount of this company accounted for using the equity method is €94 million.

Operating costs, which contain payroll costs, other administrative expenses, amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses on tangible and other
intangible assets (without goodwill), are allocated to the appropriate division according to causation. Global Banking Services and the Group Corporate
Centre are treated as external service providers, charging the divisions for their services at a price which covers their costs. The method of calculating the
costs of general banking services involves employing a weighted allocation key (costs, income, FTEs, base amount) in the budgeting process for each
segment to determine the assigned costs that cannot be allocated directly. The vast majority of the depreciation and impairment losses taken on property,
plant and equipment is posted by the Other/consolidation segment via the real estate companies of HVB Group included in the Global Banking Services
activities.

Components of the segments of HVB Group

Corporate & Investment Banking division

The Corporate & Investment Banking division (CIB) serves around 78,000 corporate customers through its domestic and international distribution
network. The division’s structure is based on four separate product units: Financing & Advisory (F&A), Global Transaction Banking (GTB), Markets and
Leasing. This is the response to a hard-fought market in which the revenue pool has contracted, investment banking products are more closely geared
to customer needs and the customer relationship is becoming the key factor. In this context, we are targeting sustained, risk-optimised growth.

Key to our success is our ability to evolve from delivering products to our customers (through lending, payments, foreign trade or derivatives) to providing
strategic, transaction-oriented activities, solutions and products. We cover all the corporate banking needs of our customers, including in areas like
restructuring, growth and internationalisation. As part of a leading European corporate and investment bank, we serve our customers in Europe and all
the world’s key financial centres. A large proportion of our SME customers are expanding into international sales markets.

Our customer segmentation criteria are based on different demand structures and processing standards. Consequently, we differentiate between the
following service models: Small Corporates, Mid Corporates, Large Corporates, Multinationals, Public Sector, Real Estate and Financial Institutions Group.

The Financing & Advisory product group (F&A) combines financing and advisory expertise. The broad range of structured transactions in financing

activities includes advising the customer on corporate strategy and M&As, acquisition and project finance, more complex transactions, syndications and
subordinated capital. Hamburg-based Global Shipping is a further specialist unit providing finance for traditional commercial shipping activities.
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Global Transaction Banking (GTB) pools our competencies in e-business, cash management and foreign trade financing.

The Markets product unit focuses on the oversight of IPOs and capital increases, the syndication of equities, bond products and structured products. The
Markets unit essentially comprises Equity Capital Markets, which is responsible for equity products and structured products based on equities, and Debt
Equity Markets, which is responsible for debt instruments such as corporate bonds, Pfandbriefs and debentures, and the associated risk transfer. Corpor-
ate Treasury Sales offers professional financial risk management involving a wide range of advisory services and products covering all possible ways of
hedging entrepreneurial risks, such as liquidity management (including asset management, deposits and investments), foreign exchange and innovative
derivatives.

Hamburg-based UniCredit Leasing is a wholly owned subsidiary of UniCredit Bank AG that is one of the leading manufacturer-neutral leasing companies
for classical mobile assets. Leasing is operated as a separate product unit within the division.

The net income from several subsidiaries and participating interests is included in the division’s results. Among others, these include UniCredit Leasing
Finance GmbH, HVB Capital Asia Ltd., HVB Capital Partners AG. UniCredit Luxembourg S.A. is assigned to several HVB Group divisions. It handles the
settlement, administration and securitisation of national and international loans for the group and is responsible for interest management as the funding
unit for the corporate group on the money market.

Our customers in Germany include companies with revenues in excess of €3 million, the public sector, real estate players and institutionals. The business
model will be refined at the start of 2011 as part of the group-wide One4C programme, with the Corporate & Investment Banking division (CIB) focusing
on customers with revenues in excess of €50 million. Companies with revenues of less than €50 million will then be served by the new Family & SME div-
ision (F&SME).

Retail division

In the 2010 financial year, we started to implement our group-wide One4C programme, which made it necessary to resegment wealthy private customers
and small and medium-sized enterprises. All in all, this programme is designed to consistently align the Bank with a sustainable customer business
model. This will enable us to provide even closer and more targeted relationship management for our customers and combine regional proximity with
international competence as a cornerstone of UniCredit.

As part of this programme, private customers with free assets of at least €500,000 moved from the Retail division to the Private Banking division in the
second quarter of 2010, while customers with assets of less than €500,000 were transferred from the Private Banking division to the Retail division.

Our customers were divided into three strategic target groups in 2010: mass market, affluents and business customers. In order to increase customer
loyalty, these three target groups were served with different service models that reflect their individual needs. Our main aim in the mass market target
group is to increase product penetration by providing demand-based advice and expanding online banking. We are also looking to secure further growth
in the target groups of affluents and business customers. To do so, we are continuing to invest in systematic customer contact, constantly refining both
our needs-based approach and our products.
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Among other things in our mass market operations, we looked to expand our lending activities. This included making the terms of our consumer loans
more attractive for customers as part of a “price offensive” and carrying out several sales promotions. The high quality of the multi-award-winning advice
we provide was spotlighted. In addition, the distribution of consumer loans over the internet was revived in cooperation with UniCredit Family Financing
Bank S.p.A. and attractive income-based pricing introduced.

Furthermore, we paid particular attention to increase product penetration in our customer portfolio. Our cross-selling activities are built around our high
quality, all-round, demand-oriented advice that puts the focus on the needs of our customers in their specific life situations. This enabled us to consider-
ably increase sales of pension and savings-and-loan products in our mass market operations, which was assisted by the intensified relations with our
new cooperation partner, Wiistenrot.

The main focus among affluent customers in 2010 was on our asset management offering, HVB VermdgensDepot privat. This product meets the needs
of our customers particularly well as it combines our Bank’s expertise in the field of asset allocation with the transparency of exchange-traded funds
(ETFs) and regular performance measurement. Furthermore, in cooperation with Pioneer Investments and the Corporate & Investment Banking division
we rolled out a series of guarantee products that have enjoyed a constant rise in sales volumes, most notably in the case of funds that invest in emerging
markets. The greater focus on the bancassurance approach led to the desired effect. After the majority of our training offensive for affluent customer
account managers had been successfully completed and our range of insurance products had been optimised, a year-on-year increase of more than
20% was achieved across our insurance activities.

In addition, a number of processes were optimised, making it possible for our affluent customer account managers to better identify the needs of our
customers and find bespoke financial solutions.

With the economic recovery picking up speed, the provision of liquidity and investment loans to our business customers was a key issue, especially in
the second half of 2010. From the first quarter to the third quarter, we offered our customers HVB InvestKredit, an attractive loan with an interest rate of
4.99%. Furthermore, we provided our account managers with further training in the use of state-subsidised special credit programmes in order to identify
the best possible loan for our customers. All in all, we extended more loans to our customers than in 2009, with growth in lease finance touching an
impressive 50%. In 2011, we aim to support our customers as they seek to expand and acquire further new customers.

A further important topic in 2010 was the refinement of our account/payments services with a view to acquiring new customers. We continued our “HVB
Konto4Business” campaign. The HVB Konto4Business is an attractive business account featuring value-added services provided in conjunction with
Deutsche Post and Creditreform, the purpose of which in part is for us to become the main bank for the personal needs of our business customers. This
initiative has helped us acquire more than 1,000 private accounts. Net new customers increased by 10% compared with 2009.

In addition, we refined our target group concept for healthcare professionals, consultants and farmers in 2010. In November we published a report on
trends in healthcare that provides an insight into the future development of this ever more important sector.

We manage our real estate financing activities across all target groups. We have continued to provide our mass-market, affluent and business
customers with plenty of capital to finance property investments. Besides obtaining loans from us directly, our customers could use the full product range
of the market from our 40 partner banks. Refocusing sales efforts on real estate finance as an anchor product generating sustainable earnings for the
Bank made it possible to increase the volume of new business compared with last year. This was assisted by our positioning as a provider of all-round
property services offering multi-award-winning advice. We reinforced our new business activities with an innovative sales campaign.

As part of One4C, SMEs (with revenues of up to €50 million) were transferred from the Corporate & Investment Banking division at the start of 2011 as

planned. To coincide with the expansion of the customer base, the Retail division was renamed Family & SME at the start of 2011. This gives rise to a
unique service model within HVB for private customers and small and medium-sized enterprises, benefiting from one of the largest networks in Europe.
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Private Banking division

The Private Banking division (formerly known as Wealth Management) has set itself the goal of optimally meeting the specific expectations of wealthy
customers with regard to a bank and the services it offers. The division serves customers with an aggregate investment volume of €42.5 billion. Private
Banking is divided into three subdivisions:

HVB Private Banking (PB)

This unit serves some 43,900 HVB customers with assets under management of €23 billion. Our 500 or so employees offer individual, personal advice at
43 locations throughout Germany. Since the group-wide One4C programme was implemented in the second quarter of 2010, Private Banking has offered
all-round, bespoke advice to customers and customer groups with liquid assets of more than €0.5 million; the Family Office serves family groups with
complex assets of more than €30 million.

PB’s strategic objectives are to satisfy high net worth individuals with a comprehensive range of advisory services, attractive products and outstanding
customer relationships, and to increase its market share in the highly competitive private banking environment. PB aspires to quality leadership in the
German market.

Wealth Management Gapital Holding (WMC)
WMC structures and issues sophisticated investment products that are tailored exclusively and perfectly to the Private Banking customer group. It is one
of the biggest initiators of closed-ended funds in Germany. Around 142,300 customers are served by some 250 employees in this unit.

UniCredit Luxembourg S.A.

UniCredit Luxembourg S.A. gives customers of HVB Group access to the financial centre of Luxembourg. Together with HVB'’s Private Banking division,
UniCredit Luxembourg has devised solutions that enable its customers to benefit from the advantageous underlying conditions offered by Luxembourg
as a financial centre. The Private Banking unit based in Luxembourg provides specialised portfolio solutions for 11,000 customers with an investment
volume of €12.3 billion and employs 81 people. In September 2010, UniCredit Luxembourg S.A. and DZ Privatbank S.A. reached agreement to sell parts
of the private banking activities of UniCredit Luxembourg S.A. to DZ Privatbank. Since the sale of this unit took effect on 31 December 2010, UniCredit
Luxembourg S.A. has focused its private banking activities in Luxembourg on serving especially wealthy customers and offering specialist services for
the corporate group in areas like the asset management of life insurance policies.

Other/consolidation segment
The Other/consolidation segment encompasses Global Banking Services and Group Corporate Centre activities, and consolidation effects.

Global Banking Services activities encompass purchasing, organisation, logistics and facility management, cost management and back-office functions
for credit, accounts, foreign exchange, money market and derivatives. Payments, securities settlement, IT application development and IT operation have
been outsourced. The Special Credit Portfolio (SCP) is also included.

The Group Corporate Centre activities include profit contributions that do not fall within the jurisdiction of the individual divisions. Among other items,
this includes the profits and losses of consolidated subsidiaries for which HVB’s strategic property management function is responsible, such as HVB
Immobilien AG and its subsidiaries, and of non-consolidated holdings, provided they are not assigned to the divisions, together with the net income from
securities holdings for which the Management Board is responsible. Also incorporated in this segment are the amounts arising from decisions taken by
management with regard to asset/liability management.
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28 Income statement broken down by division (€ millions)
CORPORATE &
INVESTMENT OTHER/
BANKING RETAIL PRIVATE BANKING CONSOLIDATION HVB GROUP
TOTAL REVENUES
2010 4,316 1,351 289 602 6,558
2009 4,683 1,425 306 516 6,930
Operating costs
2010 (1,770) (1,303) (168) (192 (3,433)
2009 (1,716) (1,363) (173) (210) (3,462)
OPERATING PROFIT
2010 2,546 48 121 410 3,125
2009 2,967 62 133 306 3,468
Restructuring costs
2010 3 — (22) (18) (37)
2009 (87) (63) 3) (17) (170)
Net write-downs of loans
and provisions for guarantees
and commitments
2010 (556) (18) ) (56) (632)
2009 (1,536) (63) 4 (6) (1,601)
Net income from
investments and other items’
2010 (493) 3 26 (110) (674)
2009 (413) (7 9) ) (431)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX
2010 1,500 33 123 226 1,882
2009 931 (71) 125 281 1,266

1 contains the following income statement items: provisions for risks and charges and net income from investments
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Income statement of the Corporate & Investment Banking division (€ millions)

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
INCOME/EXPENSES 2010 2009 2010 2010 2010 2010
Net interest income 3,000 3,237 827 703 773 697
Net fees and commissions 608 516 169 133 123 183
Net trading income 660 927 16 242 29 373
Net other expenses/income 48 3 9) 10 20 27
Net non-interest income 1,316 1,446 176 385 172 583
TOTAL REVENUES 4,316 4,683 1,003 1,088 945 1,280
Payroll costs (702) (694) (125) (180) (212 (185)
Other administrative expenses (1,044) (1,012) (266) (264) (269) (245)
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment
losses on intangible and tangible assets (24) (10) 7 ©6) (6) (5)
Operating costs (1,770) (1,716) (398) (450) (487) (435)
OPERATING PROFIT 2,546 2,967 605 638 458 845
Restructuring costs 3 (87) 3 — — —
Net write-downs of loans and provisions
for guarantees and commitments (556) (1,536) 18 (162) (68) (344)
Net income from investments and other items’ (493) (413) (533) ()] 12 30
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 1,500 931 93 474 402 531
Cost-income ratio in % 41.0 36.6 39.7 41.4 51.5 34.0

1 contains the following income statement items: provisions for risks and charges and net income from investments

Development of the Corporate & Investment Banking division
In the year under review, the Corporate & Investment Banking division recorded a very good profit before tax of €1,500 million, which is a significant
increase of €569 million compared with last year (€931 million).

Net interest income decreased by €237 million, to €3,000 million (down 7.3%) compared with the previous year. With lending business remaining largely
stable, this development can be attributed primarily to lower trading-related interest income together with a decline in income from reclassified assets
compliant with IAS 39. Furthermore, net interest income fell in deposit-taking activities, despite an increase in volumes, on account of lower margins
caused by the development in interest rates. However, the dividends included in net interest income increased mainly on account of higher dividends paid
by private equity funds.

Net fees and commissions improved, increasing by €92 million, or 17.8%, which can be mainly attributed to the pleasing development in the area of
project and structured finance coupled with lower expenses for securitisation transactions. In the year under review the division reported net trading
income of €660 million. This figure does not match the contribution to profits of €927 million generated in 2009, which was supported by the strong
recovery of the overall market at that time. In particular, the Rates (interest-related products), Equities (share and index products) and Capital Markets
units contributed to this performance in the year under review. In addition, this result was improved by holdings assigned to the fair value option, which
were still under considerable pressure last year due to widening spreads caused by the market conditions.

Operating costs rose year-on-year by a total of €54 million, or 3.1%. At 41.0%, the cost-income ratio is still at a good level (2009: 36.6%).

The year under review was concluded with much lower net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and commitments compared with 2009.
The positive development of risks (€980 million less in impairments) made a significant contribution to the overall increase in net income. At the same
time, the provisions for risks and charges and net income from investments increased. In 2010, this item essentially included expenses arising from an
obligation in connection with the completion of an offshore wind farm. The 2009 total included high valuation expenses for private equity funds and direct
and co-investments. Overall the division was able to record a very good profit before tax of €1,500 million and thus exceed last year’s figure (€931 million)
by more than 60%.
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Income statement of the Retail division (€ millions)
Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1
INCOME/EXPENSES 2010 2009 2010 2010 2010 2010
Net interest income 841 938 217 211 205 208
Net fees and commissions 509 492 126 112 135 136
Net trading income 14 10 6 1 3 4
Net other expenses/income (13) (15) (5) 3) 4 (1)
Net non-interest income 510 487 127 110 134 139
TOTAL REVENUES 1,351 1,425 344 321 339 347
Payroll costs (526) (557) (133) (134) (125) (134)
Other administrative expenses (761) (793) (198) (182 (191) (190)
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses
on intangible and tangible assets (16) (13) ) 3) 3) 3)
Operating costs (1,303) (1,363) (338) (319) (319) (327)
OPERATING PROFIT 48 62 6 2 20 20
Restructuring costs — (63) — — — —
Net write-downs of loans and provisions
for guarantees and commitments (18) (63) 16 5 27) (12
Net income from investments and other items’ 3 ) 2 — 4 1
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 33 (71) 20 7 ®3) 9
Cost-income ratio in % 96.4 95.6 98.3 99.4 941 94.2

1 contains the following income statement items: provisions for risks and charges and net income from investments

Development of the Retail division

In the first phase of implementing our One4C initiative, customers were transferred between the Retail and Private Banking divisions in 2010. Customers
with free assets of at least €500,000 were moved from the Retail division to the Private Banking division, and customers with assets of less than
€500,000 were moved from the Private Banking division to the Retail division. This reorganisation resulted in an overall shift in customers from the Retail
division to the Private Banking division and, with it, a disproportionate transfer of total revenues. Figures from the previous year and previous quarters
have been adjusted accordingly.

In the 2010 financial year the total revenues of the Retail division fell by around 5% compared with the previous year. This decline is primarily attributable
to the decrease in net interest income by around 10%, to €841 million. This is essentially due to lower interest margins in deposit-taking activities which,
despite an increase in volumes, resulted in a decline in net interest income in the deposit-taking business. In addition, there was a decrease in net inter-
est income on the lending side as a result of falling volumes, whereby a significant rise in new real estate financing business (up 21%) partially offset the
decrease in volumes. Furthermore, net interest income declined due to the deconsolidation of Vereinsbank Victoria Bausparkasse in the second half of
2009. In contrast, net fees and commissions developed pleasingly, increasing by 3.5%, to €509 million. This rise was mainly a result of better year-on-
year securities operations, which improved particularly in the area of assets under management. In addition, the division has benefited from the success-
ful sales of pension products and the increased distribution of savings-and-loan products. The cooperations with ERGO and Wiistenrot Bausparkasse AG
contributed to this success.

The decline in total revenues was partially offset by applying consistent cost management to achieve savings in operating costs (down 4.4%). In the
process, payroll costs fell by 5.6% in particular due to a reduction in headcount. In addition, other administrative expenses decreased by 4.0%.

The sharp decline in net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and commitments of around 71.4%, to €18 million, coupled with the non-
recurring restructuring costs included last year led to an improvement in the now positive profit before tax of €33 million (2009: a loss of €71 million).

As the second phase of One4C, the transfer of medium-sized corporate customers (with revenues up to €50 million) from the Corporate & Investment
Banking division was carried out as planned at the start of 2011 and not in the 2010 financial year, the net income for 2010 does not yet fully reflect the
profitability of the division.
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Income statement of the Private Banking division (€ millions)
04 03 02 (1]
INCOME/EXPENSES 2010 2009 2010 2010 2010 2010
Net interest income 109 119 34 26 25 24
Net fees and commissions 179 179 41 39 48 51
Net trading income — — — — — —
Net other expenses/income 1 8 — 2 1) —
Net non-interest income 180 187 4 41 47 51
TOTAL REVENUES 289 306 75 67 72 75
Payroll costs (75) (72) (18) (19) (19 (19
Other administrative expenses 91) (100) 21) (23) (23) (24)
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses
on intangible and tangible assets 2 1) 1) — (1) —
Operating costs (168) (173) (40) (42) (43) (43)
OPERATING PROFIT 121 133 35 25 29 32
Restructuring costs (22) () (22) — — —
Net write-downs of loans and provisions
for guarantees and commitments ) 4 — (1) — 1)
Net income from investments and other items’ 26 9 28 2 — —
PROFIT BEFORE TAX 123 125 4 22 29 31
Cost-income ratio in % 58.1 56.5 53.3 62.7 59.7 57.3

1 contains the following income statement items: provisions for risks and charges and net income from investments

Development of the Private Banking division
The Private Banking division generated a profit before tax of €123 million in the 2010 financial year and thus almost equalled last year’s figure

(€125 million).

There was a 5.6% decline in total revenues, primarily on account of lower net interest income. Net interest income fell by €10 million to €109 million

largely as a result of falling interest margins but also because of a decline in the average volume in the deposit-taking business.

The cost-income ratio rose by 1.6 percentage points to 58.1% in 2010 due to the reduction in total revenues. This was partly offset by the development
in operating costs, where a 2.9% reduction was achieved by implementing cost-cutting measures.

In non-operating profit, restructuring costs of €22 million incurred in connection with the sale of parts of the private banking business of UniCredit

Luxembourg S.A. were more than compensated by the resulting gain on disposal of €27 million reported under net income from investments.

Income statement of the Other/consolidation segment (€ millions)
Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

INCOME/EXPENSES 2010 2009 2010 2010 2010 2010
TOTAL REVENUES 602 516 139 170 92 201
Operating costs (192) (210) (44) (51) (43) (54)
OPERATING PROFIT 410 306 95 119 49 147
Restructuring costs (18) 17) (18) — — —

Net write-downs of loans and provisions

for guarantees and commitments (56) (6) 2 3 42) (15)
Net income from investments and other items’ (110) 2 (33) (35) (33) 9
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 226 281 42 87 (26) 123

1 contains the following income statement items: provisions for risks and charges and net income from investments
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Development of the Other/consolidation segment

In the year under review, the total revenues of this segment increased by €86 million, to €602 million, compared with the €516 million in the previous
year. Within this total, there was a significant increase particularly in net interest income and net other expenses/income whereas net trading income

decreased.

With operating costs declining by €18 million, the operating profit significantly improved by €104 million, to €410 million (2009: €306 million) on account

of higher earnings.

It was necessary to add €56 million (2009: €6 million) to net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and commitments in the year under
review. The loss of €110 million in net income from investments and other items (2009: a loss of €2 million) arose in the year under review primarily as a
result of higher impairments taken on investment properties. The profit before tax declined by €55 million, to €226 million (2009: €281 million), in the

2010 financial year.

29 Balance sheet figures, broken down by division (€ millions)
CORPORATE &
INVESTMENT OTHER/
BANKING RETAIL PRIVATE BANKING CONSOLIDATION HVB GROUP!

Loans and receivables with banks

2010 45,426 660 26 220 46,332

2009 41,009 71 7 1,517 43,254
Loans and receivables with customers

2010 98,641 31,788 4,673 4,249 139,351

2009 102,173 34,091 4,570 5,085 145,919
Goodwill

2010 419 — — 424

2009 419 — — 424
Deposits from banks

2010 45,126 2,517 226 4,018 51,887

2009 43,834 2,447 221 4,202 50,704
Deposits from customers

2010 63,957 29,828 8,011 6,698 108,494

2009 49,509 29,840 10,103 7,038 96,490
Debt securities in issue

2010 7,439 193 139 40,905 48,676

2009 15,090 394 194 45,608 61,286
Risk-weighted assets compliant with Basel Il
(including equivalents for market risk and
operational risk)

2010 105,313 10,133 1,690 7,335 124,471

2009 95,898 9,348 1,486 8,370 115,102

1 balance sheet figures for non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale are shown separately in Notes 57 and 67
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30 Employees, broken down by operating and service division’

2010 2009
Corporate & Investment Banking 4,496 4,594
Retalil 7,611 7,404
Private Banking 77 758
Global Banking Services 1,937 1,734
Group Corporate Gentre 4,325 4,384
Total 19,146 18,874

1 in full-time equivalents

The total number of HVB Group employees (shown as full-time equivalents) at 31 December 2010 was 272 more than at year-end 2009. This change
is attributable primarily to the initial consolidation of subsidiaries at year-end 2010. Adjusted for the effects of consolidation, the total declined by 790,

with the number of employees falling in the divisions with the exception of Private Banking.

31 Segment reporting by region
The allocation of amounts to regions is based on the head office of the Group companies or offices involved.

Income statement, broken down by region (€ millions)
GERMANY REST OF EUROPE AMERICAS ASIA CONSOLIDATION HVB GROUP
TOTAL REVENUES
2010 5,133 1,822 162 33 (592 6,558
2009 5,681 1,685 287 118 (841) 6,930
OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)
2010 2,064 1,178 81 24 (222) 3,125
2009 2,233 1,353 198 46 (362) 3,468
1 definition of total revenues and operating profit/(loss) in the regions adjusted in 2009
Total assets, broken down by region (€ millions)
2010 2009
Germany 305,009 290,892
Rest of Europe 129,932 139,386
Americas 12,041 11,273
Asia 5,310 4,988
Consolidation (80,383) (83,119
Total 371,909 363,420
Employees, broken down by region
2010 2009
Germany 17,119 17,020
Rest of Europe 1,590 1,356
Africa 3 2
Americas 218 237
Asia 216 259
Total 19,146 18,874

1 in full-time equivalents
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Notes to the Income Statement

32 Net interest income (€ millions)
2010 2009
Interest income from
lending and money market transactions 5,996 7,563
other interest income 2,704 3,496
Interest expense from
deposits (1,273) (2,174)
debt securities in issue and other interest expenses (3,327) (4,409)
Net interest 4,100 4,476
Dividends and other income from equity investments
Dividends and other similar income 142 45
Companies accounted for using the equity method 6 7
Total 4,248 4,528

Interest income and interest expense for financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value through profit or loss totalled €6,517 million (2009:
€8,140 million) and €3,994 million (2009: €5,669 million), respectively. In this context, it should be noted that a comparison of these latter figures is of
only limited informative value in economic terms, as the interest expenses for financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss

also include refinancing for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and partially for financial assets held for trading as well.

33 Net fees and commissions (€ millions)
2010 2009
Management, brokerage and consultancy services 732 647
Collection and payment services 180 179
Lending operations 403 352
Other service operations 3) 9
Total 1,312 1,187
This item comprises the balance of fee and commission income of €2,154 million (2009: €2,160 million) and fee and commission expense of
€842 million (2009: €973 million).
34 Net trading income (€ millions)
2010 2009
Net gains on financial assets held for trading’ 654 1,065
Effects arising from hedge accounting 54 30
Changes in fair value of hedged items (403) (428)
Changes in fair value of hedging derivatives 457 458
Net gains/(losses) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option)? 62) (73)
Other net trading income 113 52
Total 759 1,074

1 including dividends from financial assets held for trading

2 also including the valuation results of derivatives concluded to hedge financial assets through fair value at profit or loss (effect in 2010: minus €200 million; 2009: plus €159 million)

Other net trading income includes positive effects from the partial buy-back of hybrid capital.

The effects arising from hedge accounting includes the hedge results of the fair value hedge portfolio and the individual micro fair value hedges as a net

aggregate total.

F-37




The net gains on holdings at fair value through profit or loss (held-for-trading portfolios and fair value option) generally only contain the changes in fair
value disclosed in the income statement. The interest income from held-for-trading portfolios is normally disclosed under net interest income. To ensure
that the full contribution to profits is disclosed, the interest cash flows are only carried in net trading income for the interest rate swap trading book,
which exclusively contains interest rate derivatives.

35 Net other expenses/income (€ millions)
2010 2009
Other income 373 399
Other expenses (134) (258)
Total 239 141

Net other expenses/income totalled €239 million in 2010 (2009: €141 million). The total includes a net gain from income and current expenses from
investment properties and from rental income less current expenses from mixed usage buildings (€143 million; 2009: €104 million).

At the same time, there were gains of €18 million (2009: €76 million) on the sale of unimpaired receivables.
The 2009 total included income of €74 million arising from services performed and charged on. Other expenses also included effects of €73 million

arising from the revaluation of assets as part of the initial consolidation of Redstone Mortgages Limited, London, and valuation expenses of €43 million
accruing in connection with the acquisition of shares in real estate funds.

36 Operating costs (€ millions)
2010 2009
Payroll costs (1,756) (1,822)
Wages and salaries (1,473) (1,514)
Social security costs (215) (211)
Pension and other employee benefit costs (68) 97)
Other administrative expenses (1,459) (1,418)
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses (218) (222)
on property, plant and equipment (132 (116)
on software and other intangible assets, excluding goodwill (86) (106)
Total (3,433) (3,462)

The Bank has modified its bonus schemes to reflect the new regulations coming into force with the amended supervisory rules governing bonus payments
(Instituts-Vergtitungsverordnung). For employees whose activities have a significant influence on the Bank’s overall risk, the bonus promised for 2010 is
divided into a cash component and an equity component. The cash component is disbursed in stages over a longer period of time. Accordingly, this group
of employees receives 20—30% of the bonus in 2011 with a commitment to disburse a further 20-30% after the end of 2012; for the remaining 40-60%
of the bonus, at the start of 2011 the eligible employees receive a commitment for the allocation of shares of UniCredit S.p.A. as part of the bonus for
2010 to be transferred to the eligible employees after the end of the 2013 financial year. The payment to the eligible employees deferred until after the
end of the 2012 financial year and the allocation of shares after the end of the 2013 financial year are subject to two conditions. First, the employee in
question must continue to work at UniCredit until the time of payment or transfer; and second, it must be ensured as part of a bonus-malus arrangement
that no loss has been recorded, or no significant decline in the result generated, at either the UniCredit consolidated level or the personal level of the
individual eligible employee. The promised equity component is subject to the proviso that the Annual General Meeting of UniCredit S.p.A. formally approves
the corresponding volume of shares in April 2011.

In addition, the Bank makes deferred disbursement of bonuses in excess of €150 thousand on a voluntary basis: the amount in excess of €150 thousand
will be disbursed in three tranches in 2012, 2013 and 2014. The deferred payment of the bonus is subject to two conditions. First, the employee in
question must continue to work at UniCredit until the time of payment or transfer; and second, it must be ensured as part of a bonus-malus arrangement
that no loss has been recorded, or no significant decline in the result generated, at either the UniCredit consolidated level or the personal level of the
individual eligible employee.
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Bonuses falling due for disbursement in 2011 are recognised in full as expense. Where cash payments are made at a later date, such payments are sub-
ject to the condition that the eligible employees remain employed by UniCredit or partly subject to further performance targets. Accordingly, the vesting
period for the promised bonus consists of several financial years (target achievement plus waiting period) and is to be deferred over this period compliant
with IAS 19.68. Thus, deferred cash disbursements under the bonus promised for 2010 are recognised as expense in the respective period (from the
2010 financial year to the end of the financial year in which the waiting period for the tranche in question ends) on a pro rata basis.

UniCredit has two different share-based schemes: the long-term incentive programme and the employee share ownership plan, both of which are
described below.

Long-term incentive programme
Along-term incentive programme, including share-based remuneration transactions featuring compensation in UniCredit shares (stock options and
performance shares), has been set up for executives and junior managers of all UniCredit companies selected using defined criteria.

The following statements relate to all HVB Group executives covered by the long-term incentive programme. The information provided in Note 84 in this
regard showing the emoluments paid to members of the Management Board merely relates to the stock options and performance shares granted to
members of the Management Board.

The stock options grant entitlement to purchase a UniCredit share at a price which was fixed before the option was issued. The options may only be
exercised during a fixed period which starts after the lock-up period expires. If the beneficiary has already left UniCredit by that date, the stock options
are normally forfeited, meaning that they can no longer be exercised. The options are acquired on a pro rata basis in certain exceptional circumstances,
such as disability, retirement or an employee leaving UniCredit.

The fair values of the stock options at the date of granting are determined using Hull & White's trinomial model. The following parameters have been

taken into account in this context:

— The probability of the option expiring due to the beneficiary leaving the company prematurely after the lock-up period has expired;

— Definition of an exercise barrier. This means that the options are only exercised before the end of the exercise period if the current price of the
UniCredit shares exceeds the exercise price by the exercise barrier multiplier (usually a factor of 1.5);

— Dividend yield of the UniCredit share;

— Average historical daily volatility over the lock-up period.

No new stock options were granted in 2010.

Analysis of outstanding stock options

2010 2009

AVERAGE STRIKE AVERAGE AVERAGE STRIKE AVERAGE

TOTAL PRICE (€) MATURITY TOTAL PRICE (€) MATURITY

Outstanding at start of period 17,586,931" 4,77 August 2018 20,833,630 4.78 August 2018
Additions

Newly granted options — — — 974,483! — —
Releases

Forfeited stock options 1,596,039 4,98 August 2018 4,221,182 4.87 August 2018

Exercised stock options — — — — — —

Expired stock options — — — — — —

Total at end of period 15,990,892 4.75 August 2018 17,586,931" 4.75 August 2018

Exercisable options at end of period 3,131,100 5.37 June 2019 1,780,000 4.82  December 2018

1 figures differ from previous year due to Group transfers
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The fair value on the date of granting options is recorded as an expense on the basis of the expected number of options exercised over the period.

A set number of UniCredit shares (performance shares) are transferred free of charge if, after a period of three years, the relevant targets have been met
and the recipient is still working for UniCredit; otherwise the performance shares are normally forfeited. The options may be acquired on a pro-rata basis
in certain exceptional cases, such as disability, retirement or an employer leaving UniCredit.

The fair value for the performance shares is determined on the basis of the share price on the date when the performance shares were granted, taking
into account a discount for expected dividend payments up until the grant date when the criteria are met.

In 2010, no new performance shares were granted with the exception of the shares arising from the capital increase.

Analysis of outstanding performance shares

2010 2009

AVERAGE AVERAGE

TOTAL MATURITY TOTAL MATURITY

Outstanding at start of period 5,302,700 July 2011 6,398,643 March 2011
Additions

Increase in portfolio arising from capital increase

from company funds 247,277 July 2011 741,200 February 2011

Newly granted performance shares — — 313,233' —
Releases

Forfeited performance shares 403,441 September 2011 1,141,624 June 2011

Transferred performance shares 186,424 December 2009 102,156 December 2008

Expired performance shares 669,607 December 2009 906,596 December 2008

Total at end of period 4,290,505 November 2011 5,302,700' July 2011

1 figures differ from previous year due to Group transfers

The fair value on the date of granting is recorded as an expense for performance shares in the period that is decisive for fulfilling the respective criteria.

The expenses for both programmes (stock options and performance shares) totalled €2.7 million at HVB Group in 2010 and will be reimbursed to
UniCredit S.p.A. when they fall due.

Employee share ownership plan
An employee share ownership plan has been set up enabling UniCredit employees to purchase UniCredit shares at discounted prices.

Between January 2010 and December 2010, people participating in the plan had the opportunity to use their contributions to buy regular UniCredit

shares (known as investment shares). The plan offers the following advantages compared with buying the shares directly on the market:

— One free share (known as a discount share) for every 20 investment shares purchased under the plan (this represents a discount of 5%; the discount
shares were allocated in January 2011);

— One additional free share (known as a matching share) for every five investment and discount shares purchased under the plan (this represents a
discount of 21%). The matching shares will be allocated in January 2014 until when they are granted as “rights to matching shares”.

Thus, employees can enjoy an advantage of around 26% of the investment made as a result of the granting of free shares. Added to this is a tax break
that exists in Germany for such employee share ownership plans.

The sale of all free shares (discount and matching shares or the right to such shares) is not permitted for a lock-up period of three years, meaning until
January 2014. The rights to matching shares generally expire when employees sell investment shares or they cease to be employed by a UniCredit
company before the lock-up period ends. In this case, however, discount shares are retained in every instance. It is intended to operate the plan on an
annual basis.
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37 Provisions for risks and charges

Provisions for risks and charges amounted to €442 million in the 2010 financial year. The biggest single item is a provision of €425 million for anticipated
losses arising from an obligation in connection with the completion of an offshore wind farm. This item also includes provisions for risks and charges
relating to litigation risks. A net reversal of provisions relating to property (mainly for rental guarantees and pre-emptive rights) had an offsetting effect.

In 2009, provisions for risks and charges amounted to €151 million. The total included mainly additions to provisions for risks and charges relating to

property (for example for rental guarantees) and litigation risks.

38 Restructuring costs

HVB Group recorded restructuring costs of €37 million in the 2010 financial year, mostly in connection with the sale of parts of the private banking
activities of UniCredit Luxembourg S.A. (Private Banking division: €22 million). In addition, restructuring expenses of €18 million accrued in the Group

Corporate Centre within the Other/consolidation segment.

In 2009, restructuring costs totalled €170 million, resulting mainly from the elimination of positions. Most of the restructuring costs were a result of
restructuring activities undertaken as part of the strategic reorientation of the Corporate & Investment Banking division (€87 million). The remaining

restructuring costs relate to the Retail (€63 million) and Private Banking (€3 million) divisions and Other/consolidation (€17 million).

39 Net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and commitments (€ millions)
2010 2009
Additions (1,594) (2,480)
Allowances for losses on loans and receivables (1,485) (2,368)
Allowances for losses on guarantees and indemnities (109) (112
Releases 914 800
Allowances for losses on loans and receivables 882 783
Allowances for losses on guarantees and indemnities 32 17
Recoveries from write-offs of loans and receivables 60 77
Gains on the disposal of impaired loans and receivables (12) 2
Total (632) (1,601)

Income from the disposal of performing loans and receivables is disclosed under net other expenses/income. This gave rise to a gain of €18 million in
the year under review. The net expenses (net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and commitments, and gains on disposal) for loans and

receivables amount to €537 million (2009: €1,430 million).

Net write-downs of loans and provisions for guarantees and commitments, to related entities (€ millions)

2010 2009
Non-consolidated affiliated companies — —
Joint ventures — —
Associated companies 9 —
Other participating interests 97 —
Total 106 —_

F-41




40 Net income from investments (€ millions)
2010 2009
Available-for-sale financial assets 10 (290)
Shares in affiliated companies — 32
Companies accounted for using the equity method — (12)
Held-to-maturity investments — 2
Land and buildings — 13
Investment properties' (169) (42)
Other 27 17
Total (132) (280)
1 impairments and write-ups together with fair value fluctuations for investment properties measured at market value
Net income from investments breaks down as follows: (€ millions)
2010 2009
Gains on the disposal of 86 194
available-for-sale financial assets 59 115
shares in affiliated companies — 47
companies accounted for using the equity method — ©6)
held-to-maturity investments — 8
land and buildings — 13
other 27 17
Write-downs and value adjustments on (218) (474)
available-for-sale financial assets (49) (405)
shares in affiliated companies — (15)
companies accounted for using the equity method — 6)
held-to-maturity investments — ©6)
investment properties’ (169) (42)
Total (132) (280)

1 impairments and write-ups together with fair value fluctuations for investment properties measured at market value

In the 2010 financial year, HVB Group recorded a net loss from investments of €132 million, which is mainly attributable to write-downs and value

adjustments of €169 million on investment properties.

The sale of parts of the private banking activities of UniCredit Luxembourg S.A. generated a gain on disposal of €27 million, which is shown under other.

The net loss (gains on disposal less write-downs and valuation adjustments) of €12 million on available-for-sale financial instruments in 2010 arises from

private equity funds and direct and co-investments. The total comprises gains of €29 million on disposal and write-downs of €41 million.

The aggregate net loss of €280 million from investments in 2009 was primarily attributable to valuation expenses of €328 million from private equity

funds and direct and co-investments together with write-downs of €42 million on investment properties.
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The largest single item included in the gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets in 2009 was a gain on the disposal of our holding in
ERGO. Among other things, the net income of €32 million from shares in affiliated companies in 2009 included a gain of €46 million on the disposal of
our BodeHewitt subsidary and a write-down of €16 million recognised in compliance with IFRS 5 in connection with the sale of Vereinsbank Victoria

Bauspar AG in 20009.

41 Income taxes for the period (€ millions)
2010 2009
Current taxes (469) (398)
Deferred taxes 315 16
Total (154) (382)

The current tax expense for 2010 includes tax expenses of €14 million for previous years. In 2009, this item was reduced by tax income of €41 million

for previous years.

The deferred tax income in 2010 comprises net income of €467 million from valuation adjustments on deferred tax assets arising from tax losses carried
forward and net expense of €152 million relating to the utilisation of tax losses and the origination, reversal and valuation adjustments of deferred taxes

arising from temporary differences.

The deferred tax income in 2009 comprised net income of €32 million from write-ups and write-downs of deferred tax assets as well as net deferred
tax expenses of €16 million arising from the origination and utilisation of tax losses and deferred taxes from the origination and reversal of temporary

differences.
The differences between computed income tax and recognised income tax are shown in the following reconciliation: (€ millions)
2010 2009
Profit before tax 1,882 1,266
Applicable tax rate 15.8% 15.8%
Computed income taxes (297) (200)
Tax effects
arising from previous years and changes in tax rates (21) +91
arising from foreign income (127) 99
arising from non-taxable income +45 +55
arising from different tax laws +95 (140)
arising from non-deductible expenses (55) (70)
arising from valuation adjustments and the non-recognition
of deferred taxes + 207 17)
arising from amortisation of goodwill — —
arising from other differences 1) 2
Recognised income taxes (154) (382)

The tax rate applicable in the year under review remained unchanged at 15.8%. It comprises the current rate of corporate income tax in Germany of

15.0% and the solidarity surcharge of 5.5% of corporate income tax.

The effects arising from tax on foreign income are a result of the different tax rates applicable in other countries.

The item tax effects arising from different tax laws comprises primarily current and deferred trade tax in Germany for the current year calculated using tax

rates which differ per municipality.
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The deferred tax assets and liabilities are broken down as follows: (€ millions)

2010 2009
Deferred tax liabilities
Loans and receivables with banks and customers, incl. provisions for losses on loans and receivables 62 85
Financial assets/liabilities held for trading 100 102
Investments 155 78
Property, plant and equipment/intangible assets 65 76
Other assets/other liabilities/hedging derivatives 639 555
Deposits from banks/customers 77 87
Other 265 192
Recognised deferred tax liabilities 1,363 1,175
Deferred tax assets
Financial assets/liabilities held for trading 390 403
Investments 85 67
Property, plant and equipment/intangible assets 142 75
Provisions 408 296
Other assets/other liabilities/hedging derivatives 699 568
Loans and receivables with banks and customers, incl. provisions for losses on loans and receivables 317 308
Losses carried forward/tax credits 807 524
Other 3 11
Recognised deferred tax assets 2,851 2,252

German corporations are generally charged a corporate income tax rate of 15.0%, irrespective of any dividend distribution. Deferred taxes are measured
for our domestic companies using the uniform corporate income tax rate of 15.8%, including the solidarity surcharge, and the municipal trade tax rate
dependent on the applicable municipal trade tax multiplier. At HVB, this resulted in an unchanged overall valuation rate for deferred taxes of 31.4%.

Deferred tax assets of €43 million (2009: €21 million) were credited to the AfS reserve and deferred tax liabilities of €27 million (2009: €91 million) were
offset against the hedge reserve. On account of the option set forth in IAS 19.93A, deferred tax assets of €86 million (2009: €101 million) were directly
credited to shareholders’ equity. In each case, the deferred tax items offset directly against reserves are the balance of deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities before adjustment for minority interests.

Compliant with IAS 12, no deferred tax assets have been recognised for unused tax losses of HVB Group of €4,138 million (2009: €5,814 million), most
of which do not expire, unused tax credits of €60 million and deductible temporary differences of €1,578 million (2009: €1,432 million).

The deferred tax assets recognised on tax losses carried forward were calculated using plans of the individual divisions, which are based on segment-
specific and general macroeconomic assumptions. The amounts were measured taking into account appropriate valuation discounts. The planning
horizon remained unchanged at five years. Measurement was carried out taking into account possible restrictions of local regulations regarding time
and the so-called minimum taxation rule for domestic tax losses carried forward. Estimation uncertainties are inherent in the assumptions used in any
multi-year plan. Where changes are made to the multi-year plan and the underlying assumptions over the course of time, this may have an impact on the
valuation of the volume of deferred tax assets already capitalised or to be capitalised on tax losses carried forward.

42 Earnings per share

2010 2009
Consolidated profit attributable to shareholder (€ millions) 1,703 819
Average number of shares 802,383,672 802,383,672
Earnings per share (€) 212 1.02

F-44




Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet

43 Cash and cash balances (€ millions)
2010 2009
Cash on hand 491 506
Deposits central banks 2,574 5,894
Total 3,065 6,400
44 Financial assets held for trading (€ millions)
2010 2009
Balance-sheet assets
Fixed-income securities 26,952 33,950
Equity instruments 6,422 6,586
Other financial assets held for trading 11,529 11,772
Positive fair value from derivative financial instruments 88,486 81,081
Total 133,389 133,389
The financial assets held for trading include €392 million (2009: €512 million) in subordinated assets.
Financial assets held for trading of related entities
The following table shows the breakdown of financial assets held for trading involving related entities: (€ millions)
2010 2009
Non-consolidated affiliated companies 16,765 15,173
Joint ventures — —
Associated companies — —
Other participating interests 31 299
Total 16,796 15,472

The largest single item within financial assets held for trading of non-consolidated affiliated companies relates to derivative transactions involving

UniCredit and UniCredit Bank Austria AG.

45 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (€ millions)
2010 2009
Fixed-income securities 24,555 11,266
Equity instruments — 1
Investment certificates 1 1
Promissory notes 2,075 2,490
Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss — —
Total 26,631 13,758

82% of the promissory notes was issued by the federal states and regional authorities in the Federal Republic of Germany. The remaining promissory

notes were issued by European central and regional governments.

On account of the prime ratings of the promissory notes, the fair value fluctuations contain no effects from changes in credit ratings.

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include €297 million (2009:; €274 million) in subordinated assets.

46 Available-for-sale financial assets (€ millions)
2010 2009
Fixed-income securities 3,974 2,433
Equity instruments 778 862
Other available-for-sale financial assets 448 475
Impaired assets 715 671
Total 5,915 4,441
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Available-for-sale financial assets include financial instruments of €1,416 million (2009: €1,444 million) valued at cost compliant with IAS 39.46. Within
this total, equity instruments with a carrying amount of €20 million were sold during 2010, yielding a gain of €24 million.

The available-for-sale financial assets contain a total of €715 million (2009: €671 million) in impaired assets for which impairments of €61 million (2009:
€419 million) were taken to the income statement during the year under review. None of the non-impaired debt instruments are financial instruments

past due.

The available-for-sale financial assets include €493 million (2009: €257 million) in subordinated assets.

47 Shares in associated companies accounted for using the equity method and joint ventures

accounted for using the equity method (€ millions)

2010 2009

Associated companies accounted for using the equity method 94 88
of which: goodwill — —
Joint ventures accounted for using the equity method — —
Total 94 88
Change in portfolio of shares in associated companies (€ millions)
2009 ASSOCIATED COMPANIES ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
Carrying amounts at 1 January 32
Additions 88
Purchases —
Write-ups —
Changes from currency translation —
Other additions’ 88
Disposals (32)
Sales (25)
Impairments (6)
Changes from currency translation (1)
Non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale —
Other disposals' —
Carrying amounts at 31 December 88

2010

ASSOCIATED COMPANIES ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

Carrying amounts at 1 January

88

Additions

Purchases

Write-ups

Changes from currency translation

Other additions'

Disposals

Sales

Impairments

Changes from currency translation

Non-current assets or disposal groups held for sale

Other disposals’

Carrying amounts at 31 December

94

1 also including changes in the group of companies included in consolidation
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The following tables show the main items in the balance sheets and income statements of the companies accounted for using the equity method:

(€ millions)
2010 2009
Property, plant and equipment 241 252
Intangible assets 601 475
Other assets 262 240
Total assets 1,104 967
(€ millions)
2010 2009
Deposits from banks 194 169
Other liabilities 531 440
Equity 379 358
Total liabilities 1,104 967
(€ millions)
2010 2009
Net interest income 2 —
Net other expenses/income 1,412 1,318
Operating costs (1,377) (1,270)
Profit before tax 37 48
Income tax (14) (18)
Consolidated profit 23 30

There were no changes in value at companies accounted for using the equity method arising from other comprehensive income or other equity items.

48 Held-to-maturity investments (€ millions)
2010 2009
Fixed-income securities 2,596 2,675
Impaired assets 4 4
Total 2,600 2,679

Held-to-maturity investments include a total of €4 million (2009: €4 million) in impaired assets. No impairments were taken to the income statement

during the year under review. None of the non-impaired debt instruments are financial instruments past due.

The held-to-maturity investments include €15 million (2009: €15 million) in subordinated assets.

The disposals carried out in 2009 were immaterial as a proportion of the item as a whole, meaning that HVB Group complied with the tainting rules

defined in IAS 39 AG22.
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Development of held-to-maturity investments (€ millions)
2010 2009
Balance at 1 January 2,679 6,020
Additions
Purchases — 18
Write-ups — —
Other additions 19 —
Disposals
Sales — (95)
Redemptions at maturity (98) (3,200)
Write-downs — 7)
Other disposals — (57)
Balance at 31 December 2,600 2,679
Held-to-maturity investments of related entities
The following table shows the breakdown of held-to-maturity investments involving related entities: (€ millions)
2010 2009
Non-consolidated affiliated companies 2,105 2,104
Joint ventures — —
Associated companies — —
Other participating interests — —
Total 2,105 2,104
This item relates exclusively to a security issued by UniCredit.
49 Loans and receivables with banks (€ millions)
2010 2009
Current accounts and demand deposits 16,222 14,887
Repos’ 12,343 10,265
Reclassified securities 4,983 8,349
Other loans to banks 12,784 9,753
Total 46,332 43,254
1 repurchase agreements
The loans and receivables with banks included €784 million (2009: €862 million) in subordinated assets at 31 December 2010.
Loans and receivables with related entities
The following table shows the breakdown of loans and receivables with banks involving related entities: (€ millions)
2010 2009
Non-consolidated affiliated companies 11,006 4,568
Joint ventures — —
Associated companies — —
Other participating interests 182 50
Total 11,188 4,618

F-48




Notes to the Consolidated Balance Sheet covmue)

The largest single item within loans and receivables from non-consolidated 